HOLLY TOWNSHIP
PROPOSED AGENDA
Board of Trustees Regular Meeting
October 15, 2025 6:30 PM
Holly Township Hall (Upstairs)
102 Civic Dr. Holly, Michigan 48442

CALL TO ORDER - PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE

ROLL CALL: George Kullis  Karin Winchester  Jennifer Ryan Derek Burton
Ryan Matson Michael McCanney Richard Kinnamon

AGENDA APPROVAL

CONSENT AGENDA:
[.  Approval of Regular Meeting Minutes — September 17, 2025,
2. Approval of Financial Statement — September 2025.
3. Approval of Bills for Payment — October 2025
4. Receipt of Routine Reporis:
A. N.O.CF.A. Minutes — September 23, 2025,
B. Planning Cominission Minutes — September 10, 2025,
C. Building Permits — September 2025.
D, Treasworer's Annual and Quarterly Report - September 30, 2025.
5.  Communications:
A. Letter and Resolution Dated September 14, 2025 from Holly Township Parks re: Stiff Mill Pond and Dan.

All items listed under “Consent Agenda” are considered to be routine, and non-controversial, do not require discussion by the Township
Board and will be approved by one motion. There wilf be no separate discussion. If discussion is desired on an item, that ftem will be
removed from the consent agenda and will automatically be moved to the last item under New Business.

PUBLIC HEARINGS: None,
PRESENTATIONS: None.

REPORTS: TRUSTEES CLERK TREASURER SUPERVISOR

PUBLIC COMMENT on Agenda ltems Only. Members of the public can address the Board, on agenda items only,
once recognized by the Supervisor. Comments are limited to a maximum of 3 minutes, The board may extend this time by a
majority vote. Prior to addressing the board, members of the public shall state their name and address for the record. A
second public comment is available after New Business for all other comments. Thank you for your cooperation.

OLD BUSINESS - None.

NEW BUSINESS
1. 123NET Metro Act Permit.
2. BS&A Cloud Software Contract,
3. Holly Area Youth Assistance.
4. Dickens Festival,
5. Consider Closed Session to Discuss Attorney/Client Privileged Information,

PUBLIC COMMENT

ADJOURNMENT






Holly Township
Board of Trustees Regular Meeting
Minutes of September 17, 2025

CALL TO ORDER: Supervisor Kullis called the Regular Meeting of the Holly Township
Board of Trustees to order at 6:30 pm located at the Holly Township Offices (Upstairs), 102
Civic Drive, Holly, Michigan 48442,

PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE

ROLL CALL

Members Present:

Karin Winchester, Jennifer Ryan, Derek Burton, Michael McCanney and Richard Kinnamon

Members Absent

George Kullis

Others Present:

None,

In the absence of Supervisor Kullis, Clerk Winchester called the regular meeting of the Holly
Township Board of Trustees to order at 6:30 PM and led the Pledge of Allegiance.

» Motion by Clerk Winchester to excuse George Kullis. Trustee Kinnamon supported the
motion. A voice vote was taken with all present voting yes. The motion carried 6/0.

As the Supervisor was absent, the Board needed to approve a meeting moderator. Clerk
Winchester suggested Trustee Matson, noting he did well as the Planning Commission Chair.
Trustee Matson agreed to moderate the meeting.

> Motion by Clerk Winchester to approve Trustee Matson as meeting moderator.
Supported by Trustee Burton. A voice vote was taken, All present voted yes. The motion
carried 6/0.

AGENDA APPROVAL

» Motion by Clerk Winchester to approve the agenda. Supported by Trustee Kinnamon. A
voice vote was taken. All present voted yes. The motion carried 6/0,

CONSENT AGENDA:

Approval of Regular Meeting Minutes — August 20, 2025.
Approval of Financial Statement — August 2025,
Approval of Bills for Payment — September 2025

Receipt of Routine Reports:

N.O.C.F.A. Minutes — August 26, 2025,

Planning Commission Minutes — August 13, 2025.
Building Permits — August 2025.

Treasurer’s Annual and Quarterly Report — None.
Communications: None.

el e R e all e



Holly Township Board of Trustees Regular Meeting — Minutes of September 17, 2025 Page 2 of 4

» Motion by Clerk Winchester to approve the Consent Agenda as amended. Supported
by Trustee Kinnamon. A roll call vote was taken. All present voted yes. The motion
carried 6/0.

PUBLIC HEARINGS: None.
PRESENTATIONS: BS&A on Software Upgrade to BS&A Cloud.

Joel Champ and Keegan from BS&A presented their cloud-based software solution.

Joel Champ explained that they were proposing an upgrade from the township's current on-
premise T-net solution to a cloud-based system. He noted that the current system is 16 years old.
The cloud solution would be web-based using Microsoft Azure and would offer several
advantages:

¢ BS&A would handle IT support, monthly upgrades, and cybersecurity that the township
currently manages with their on-premise system
¢ The cloud system operates from two geo-redundant stations in Virginia and Arizona for
disaster recovery
e Daily database backups
e A centralized database rather than separate modules, improving workflow and
productivity
¢ Regular annual enhancements to the system
L
Keegan discussed the evolution of BS&A's support services. He shared that the company has
received about 100,000 support requests in 2024 and is averaging 12,000 per month in 2025.
Their first response time averages 1.2 hours compared to an industry average of 8 hours.
Keegan highlighted several new support options:

e A customer portal where users can track their support cases
e In-app guidance for processes done infrequently
¢ An Al chatbot trained in municipal terminology
e More webinars and user group meetings
[ ]
He showed visual comparisons between the dotnet and cloud platforms, demonstrating how the
interfaces have been modernized while maintaining similar workflows. Keegan emphasized that
the cloud platform offers dashboards that can combine data from multiple modules, centralized
addressing, and integration between tax disbursements and accounts payable.
Regarding implementation, Keegan explained it would take approximately 6-9 months from
contract execution to going live. The timeline includes project planning, data extraction,
configuration, training, and post-implementation support.
Treasurer Ryan asked about transitioning from county assessing and tax services to the cloud
system and how it would affect the village's tax process. Keegan assured her that the system
would still be able to export data to other entities,
Trustee McCanney expressed concerns about data ownership and backup, askmg if the township
could maintain a local copy of their data. Keegan explained that BS&A does not claim
ownership of customer data and would provide a full SQL backup if requested. He confirmed
that the contract explicitly states that BS&A does not own the township's data.
Clerk Winchester noted that the upgrade would improve workflow and offer better features for
both staff and residents. Treasurer Ryan mentioned that currently their tax and assessing data on
the website is only updated weekly because of the import process from the county system.
When asked about costs, Treasurer Ryan stated that the annual cost in the proposal is about
$33,000 compared to their current cost of approximately $12,000, representing an increase of




Holly Township Board of Trustees Regular Meeting — Minutes of September 17, 2025 Page 3 of 4

about $21,000. Keegan explained that the annual fee would increase each year by either CPI or
5%, whichever is lower.

REPORTS
TRUSTEES

Trustee McCanney reported that the Planning Commission approved an expansion for Crane
Heating and Cooling, which would include landscaping improvements to bring their plot up to
code. He noted this would help shape the rural town center feel for that district.

Trustee Matson commented that the Trinity Health senior living community construction had
begun, and the land clearing was quite dramatic. Clerk Winchester noted that while trees had
been removed, the developer would be planting new trees as part of their approved plans.

Trustee Kinnamon announced an upcoming car show hosted by the Chamber of Commerce on
Saturday, October 11th at Mount Holly. Vehicles will meet at Waypoint Church between 8:30-
9:30 AM before driving the 8.5 miles to Mount Holly. Last year's event had over 200 vehicles in
the drive and about 270 at the event. He also mentioned a request he received about cleaning up
brush around revolutionary era gravestones in the cemetery, noting the 250th anniversary
activities related to revolutionary sites.

Trustee Burton inquired about statutory revenue sharing updates. Treasurer Ryan explained that
townships didn't receive statutory revenue sharing until recently, and while they're now looking
to pull it back, it won't significantly impact Holly Township's budget. She confirmed that
constitutional revenue sharing remains protected.

TREASURER

Treasurer Ryan reported on her first Holly Initiative for Action (HIA) meeting. She shared
upcoming HIA events;
s Family education events on September 29th and October 20th

o Mental health fair in November

¢ Participation in the Halloween car show on October 1st

s Being the "Roundup charity" at Goodwill for November and December
CLERK

Clerk Winchester had no report.

PUBLIC COMMENT - Norne,

OLD BUSINESS — None.

NEW BUSINESS

1. BS&A Cloud Proposal.

The Board discussed the BS&A cloud proposal. Trustee McCanney emphasized the importance

of maintaining local data backups for disaster recovery and to prevent being "held hostage" by
the vendor.



Holly Township Board of Trustees Reguniar Meeting — Minutes of September 17, 2025 Page 4 of 4

» Motion by Trustee Matson to move forward in the BS&A cloud proposal process
contingent upon reviewing of contract at a later meeting. Supported by Trustee
Kinnamon. A roll call vote was taken. Al present voted yes, The motion carried.

2. Municipal Credit and Community Interlocal Agreement with SMART.

Clerk Winchester explained that this agreement was previously an annual renewal, but since

there is now only one vendor, the agreement would be ongoing instead of annual, The agreement

transfers SMART funding to Western-Oakland Transportation Authority (WOTA). She noted the

township attorney had reviewed the agreement.

» Motion by Winchester to approve the municipal credit and community interlocal
agreement with SMART. Supported by Trustee Matson. A roll call vote was taken. All
present voted yes. The motion carried.

3. Holly Area Youth Assistance Contract.

Cletk Winchester presented the annual contract with Holly Area Youth Assistance, noting that
the budget had been increased from $2,600 to $3,500 per year,

» Motion by Burton to approve the Holly Youth Assistance contract. Supported by
Winchester. A roll call vote was taken. All present voted yes. The motion carried.

PUBLIC COMMENT
No Public Comment.

ADJOURNMENT - Trustee Matson, Chair adjourned the meeting at 7:19 pm.

Karin Winchester, Clerk



(00" TOS 'SP L ARAL AN FONYIYE UNOJ ONE
99 86Z°ET 99°86Z €T §Z~bE0Z - SHIALIANZISXKI/STANZATY J0 IZN
6 2162y 6 ZT6 28 ZONYIVE QNAd "93d
00 00T ST ZIL'T6S (v0P0T) (ST ZTIL'T6G) 0070 STANLIANIAXE % SENNIATY IC I3N
CLLY ¥S 9ZT 82 ££°907T 9r BTL T6S 00°9%86£2'T SEEALTONIAXKA TYIOL
0070 69°8EBGET T 62°C €L 00°9%876£2°T SEOANIATY TYICL
CINIHSSESSY TYIDEAS AONEONIWNT ANY FYId - 907 pung
ELTLY FS"9Z1'8%9 ££7901 9F"6TL T16S 0079%8°6E2°T STUALIANZIXE TYIOL
ELLY FS 921 8%9 €€ 901 9 6TL 168G 00°9%8'6EZ°T ADNIOMINT ANY FdI3 - BEF 31d9g TPaol
000 00" TLT 80T 000 00" o 00 TLI'80T FONYIVE aNNd O1 9EISNYHEL 08E~566-8BEE-90T
000 00°0 coQ 000 00°0 GNNE TYHENTD Ol YIISNVEL 10T-G66-8££-902
000 000 goe 00" o Qoo AVILOO IYIIAYD 000~TLE-8EE-907F
ZE"ZS 00" QL0 'BES 000 00"G05 166G DO SLS'0ET T SAJIANES CIIOTILNOD 000-Z08-8££-902
06761 75 G88 £E°90T 9y "H12 00001t SASNIIXT INIIVEEE0 000-0FL-BE£E-202
AONIOYARE ANV S¥IdZ - gge adag
gaIn3tpuadyy
0070 69°8E£8'6ETT 62°¢ 184 00 9¥8°6EZ’T SHNNIATI TYIOL
0 o 0o o 000 000 000 AONIOWANE NV FUTI - sc£f 3dag Telol
000 600 000 000 00°0 $ANNd ¥EHIO WOEd SHZASMYNL 000-669~8££-902
AONIDHIWE QNY 3¥Id -~ ggr 3deq
0070 69°8BEB‘6ET’T 62°Z TETL 00-9¥8'6ET’T TYYENED ~ 000 3dag TeRlel
000 0070 00" ¢ 0070 000 FONYTYE ONOE HOWd MEASNVNEL 06E-669-000-902
00°0 00°0 6o @ 000 000 ANOI TYEINED HOWd ¥ZISNVHEL T0T-669-000-907
000 00°0 0o o 000 00" 0 SNOINYIIADSIN G00-8L9-000-902
TETL 69726 62°¢ TE°L 00°00T LSTIEINI 000-529-000-902
[4Toldls) QorovL'eEz I a0~ g 000 00-9bL'6ECT T NOILDETION INIWSSISSY TWIDAdS 000-167-000-302
TYIENID - 000 3daqQ
sanuaaayg
INTASSISSY TYIDEAS ADNEOWIWT aNY FdEId - 07 bung
adasn {TYIEONEY) TYHNON (2SYFYDEA) FSYTIONI  (TUWHONHY) TYHEON 135009 QIGNTNY NOIIdI¥DsHa HITHAN TO
190" % AINYTIYI SZOT/DE/60 HINOW SZ0Z/0E/60 92-520%
ATIYTIIYAVY HO0d ALIAILDY AONYTYd dIA
$70Z/0£/60 ONIONT COT¥IZ drysusor ATTOH :dQ
NIUYY :i3sn
L/T  iebeg dIHSNMOL ATTOH dH04d I¥OdHEY A¥ALIANIZAXHT ANV dONTZATY

Wd ¢0-50 S20¢/80/01



LT°6TF €01 20°6G5°86 IONYIVE aNnd NI

88°FST’S 88°FST ‘S $Z-5207 — STUNLIIGNISXE/SEANFATE J0 LEN

90°655 ‘86 907655786 EONYTIYE ONNd C9FEd

00° 007 LL %6 P67 G6GE (LL F6Z) 000 SHYALIANZEEXE % SINNIATI J0 L3N

LT1°T TE9TT 61T 0070 69°GIR T 0prgeg ‘ot STINLIANHEAXE TYLOL

£6°0 80 TIS6TT y6°56¢E Z6 0ZT’T 00 EES LT SHANIATS TYLOL

ISANNE 9L - £TZ pung

L1°T 1€°3T2761T 00°0 69°GIF T 00-zg9’0z1 STANIIANIIXT TYLOL

L1TT TE°9TE76TT 0070 69°GTF'T 00°2E£9 02T 934 - g1z 3dsg T=30L

0o o 000 00°0 RO R jo- o JONYIVE dNOd OL YEISNTIL 06E-566-ET2-£12

LT T 1£°91Z76TT 000 69 GTF’T 00°2€9°02T SESNEAXT ONILIVIALO 000-0%L-€TZ-C12

Had - €17 3d9g

saznlTpuadxyg

€670 80 TIG 61T ¥6-GGE 26702171 00297021 SEANIATY TYICL

£6°0 80 TTIS5611 6 GGE 2670211 00°2€9°021T TYEENED - 000 3dag Telel

000 00°2£2°80T1 0070 ao° o 002227801 FONYTIVE QNOd WOEd JHISNYEL 06€-669-000-£TC

89781 80°6L8 ¥ V6 G69¢ Z67021°T 00 00079 LSEYHINT 000-599-000-£1Z

000 00°00F ‘9 00" o 0070 00" 00% ‘9 SaNGE 9dd 000-8LFP-000-C1Z

TYNENIS - 000 3ded

SoNUIADY

SaNNd 924 - £IZ puni

aasn (TYWEONTY) TYHION (ASYIEDIA) FSTIUONT {TYRNONAY) TYWEON LE9009 JEENIANY NOILdIED5Ia FIENON IO
15ad % EONYTYE §Z0Z/08/60 HINOW SZOZ/DE/G0 9g-520z

ITEYIIVAY HOd ALIAILOW FONYTIVE ALA

LiT

:obeg

GZ0Z/0E/60 SNIANE dOIMIEd

ZIHSNMOL ATTOH d0d 1d043Y FANLIANIAXE JNV E0ONIATd

diysumoy ATTOH :€Q
NIGYY -I=sp
Wd 20:G60 SZ0Z/80/01



T8°99£ 91T TSTERRLG ZONYTIVE ONOd gNg

6L VOP ‘LY 6L FOF LT $Z-vZ02 - STEOLIGNIIXE/SAONIATE JO IEN

ZS5 EFBILE I5TER8 LG TONYTIYE aNnd -oHdd

00001  (0§°8IT'T) 08 FEE 06°8TT'T 00" 0 STINLIANZEAXT 3 SANNIATY A0 IEN

0G0 00" TE0’EZT 00°0 00°C 00 10221 STUALIANIIXT TYIOL

2670 067216 ‘021 08°FFE 0S°8IT’'T 00TTE0 ‘2T STONTATE TYLOL

TSANOE I0Y CYIAW - $1Z pung

0o G 00" TEC 22T 0o o 0oe 00-TEC‘EZT SEANIICNEIXE TYIOL

000 00" 10zt 000 0070 00180221 I0¥ O¥IEW - p1¢ adsg Te30%

0070 00" 0 00" 0 000 000 AONYIVE CNOJ 0L YEISNYIL 06E-S66-%1Z~F1C

00" 0 00" tTEC‘ZET 00°C 0070 00" TE0 2T SUSNIAIXE HNILWYIA0 000-0%L-¥T2-F12

I0Y OMIEW - %17 3dsg

gaanatrusdx

2670 05°216 ‘021 08" FFE 0S'8IT'T 0O"1EQ‘2ZT SHONIAZY TYIOL

Z6'0 05°216 ‘0ZT 08 %bE 0G°81IT't 00°TE0°22T TYIENES - 000 3dag TeR3ol

000 00 TE9 60T 000 oo 00" TE9 ‘60T EONYIVE dNng HO¥d 9aASNTdL 06£-66%-000-F12

ZF 52 05°182°¢ 08 FFE 06'8TIT’T 0000’ LSHYAINI 000-%$99-000-%12

000 00700078 00" 0 00°0 00700078 SINIWAYS 10Y¥ O¥IdR 000-2L5-000~F12

TRIENES - 00 3dag

S8NUsADY

SONNd IOY OMIAW - b1z pung

adsn (TYRNONGY) TYIION (ISYTMOHI) FSYIEONI (TYWMONAY} TYWNHON 139009 JHANENY NOILAT¥0S3d NIFHAN 7D
1909 % TIRVTIVE SZ0T/0E/60 HINOW §Z0Z/0E/60 9Z-520¢2

H1EYIIvaAY H0d ALIAILDY dONVYIVE d4IA

SZ0Z/0E/60 ONIONE QOIddd drysumel ATToH :€d

NIVYY 128

L/E rabeg dTHSNMOL ATIOH ¥0d 1d04ddY EYALIANIIXZ ONY dONIANY Wd Z0:GO GZ0Z/80/01



6% 8ZT’C0T L1886 LET EONYIVE ONNI gNF
(18-0£2792) {19-0€£2792) SZ-520¢ - STINIIANTAXE/SENNIATY 0 IEN
LT°8GGLET LT 8SS LET FINYIYE ANAd ~9Ed
007 00T LO"66T'8 (£Z°16872) (L0661 8} 00°0 SHANITIANEAXE 3 SIANIATE I0 13N
FR°G¢ 88°2LZ’16 9ETLBT LT PL €66 0G 00°99Z°Z%T STEALIANAIRE TIVIOD
80° 0% €6 TLY ‘66 ET"0¥E’FT LOTYEL'ZY 0079922 T SHANFATY TYIOL
IDNIQTING - 6FE PUNJ
Fg"Gce 98°ZLZ°16 9L LET LT F1 €66 0% 00°99Z°C¥T STUALIANTAXE TYLIOL
¥6°SE 987 ZLE 16 9L LET LT FTE66°0% 00'992°2%1 NOIZOEJSNI 9NIQIIng ~ 1rE 3dag 12301
oo 0070 00"0 000 00" 8 FONYTIVE aNOJ 05 ¥TISNVEL 0BE-SE6-TLE-BFE
co-Q 0070 00" 0 000 00°0 SOOANYTTEDSIH 000-SG6~TLE~EVT
00" 62 06 PZE 6T 05'08% ‘S 05 TEE 9T 007992769 GNAA TVEINTS 0L And 908V 000-Z2F6~TLE-6VT
00°62 QO 008 ET 0G°005°T 00" 00s F 00°00078T INIWAYE FSYIT 000-T¥6-TLE-6FE
000 0070 oc o o e 00°0 ININISANERITY FOVATIN 000-098-TLE-6VE
0070 00008 00" 0 000 00°006 NOILINL 3 Sdns *SEng 000-0E8-TLE-BTE
5 PE 09°LE6°E 097909 oveLn’e 000009 HOLOEASNI ONIGHNTd 000~808~TLE-6FT
9% -9¢ 0F FGE ‘e 0¥ 00F‘T 08°6%9 ¢ 007000701 MOLDAASNT TYOINYHISN 000-L08-TLE-GFT
Z8°G¥ 09 FEE‘F 09°959°1 0F"599°¢ Q0 000’8 MOLDFASNT TYIINIOHTH 000-908-TLE-G}E
19°LS $ET86S 0T F9°250°G F9°T0F ‘%1 Q0000’2 HOIDEESNL ONIQTING 000-508-TLE-6%C
£9°69 0F"E£EL°T Z9°008°T 09°%3Z‘9 00 0006 SHSNHIXT ONIIVEEI0 000-ChL-TLE-6TT
00°0 00°0 00" 0 0070 000 FONVENSNT FITT/HLTYIH 000-0ZL-TLE~6FZ
000 000 000 000 00" ALTEADES 'TYID0S 000-STL~-TLE-6FE
0co 000 00°¢ 000 0C° 0 NOISN3d 000-0TL-TLE-BYEZ
0cto 000 00" 0 0cto [oTehd} SEIUYIVS 000-Z0L-TLE-6FZ
NOILDHASNI 9NIATINg - T.g adeg
ssaniTpuadxy
80 0¢€ £6°TLY 66 ET 0FE‘FT LOTFEL'TE 00°99Z°Z%1 SANNFAAT TYLOL
g0 0¢ E6 ILF 66 ET70FEFT L0 P6L ZY 00992251 TYIENTD - GO0 3dsd T@iol
00°0 00" LT3 0% 0070 00°0 00" LT9 ‘0% AONYIYE ANOS HOWd YRASNYEL 06E~669-000-6FZ
10709 £F 659 18°6L2 L5686 00 69 ‘T LETYHINT 000~599-000~6FZ
08 1F 06°G6T'85 ZETFO0YT 0S F087TY Q0°000°00T SLINYEd ¥ SHSNIADIT 000-9L57-000-6FE
TYHENED - 000 3dea
SOnUIAIY
ONIQTIING - 6F¥ pung
agsn {TYIHONSY) TYWION (FSYTYDIAC) FSYTHONI (IVIHONEY) TYHEON hictalafot- M efcadniciTirg NOILITHOSHEC HEEHAN 1D
19049 3% HONEIYE GZ0Z/0£/60 HINOW GZ02/0€/60 9Z-5202
TIIYTIVAY ¥0d ALIAILDY ADNYIYE dIA

L/F :abeg

SZOZ/0E/60 DNIANZE QOI¥Ed

dIHSNMOL XTICH ¥0d L90ddd TUQLIANEdXE ONY BNNIARY

drysumog, ATTCH 184

NIGVM -I28f

W& 20:90 S20Z/80/01



T9°LT9'8L2°T LT IE6 6FL IONYTYE ONON3 aNZ

Q€ 6%L 828 0E"6FL’825 GZ-%202 ~ STUNLIONIANI/SHAONIATY IO LIAN

LT T1E6'6¥L LI TE6 601 IONYIYE ANnd "938

00" 00T 98729 (66°59076) (98-29) 000 STAALIANIIXT 3 SANNAANE 20 L3N

8z 0 00" 0EB'98B6 'Y 00°0LT’ET 00 0LTET 00°000°000°S SHEALIANIAXE TYIOL

9270 9826879686y ip 501 P PI LOT'ET 00000000 SEONZATE TYLIOL

CONAI INFWIACHAWI TYLIAYD - T0p pung

920 00°0£87986 Y 00°QLT'ET OO QLT’ET 00°000°000°S STUNIIANTIAXE TYIOL

9Z°0 00" 0E8°'986 Y 00 QLT'ET O0"0DLTET 00700070007 LNERIAOYIRT TYIIAYD ~ I06 14sd Te3lOol

00" 0 0070 0o 0 0070 0070 FONYIVE ONAJ O ¥IASNVEL 06E£~566-T06~10F

06 0 00" 0 00" 0 0070 00°0 IDAr0Md AY¥ELSHEYA 000-%L6-T06-T0F

8270 0DOT0E8’986°F GO OLT’ET 007 0OLT'ET 00°000°000°S SHSNEIXE » SEDIA¥YES TIVH dIHSNMOL 0C0-£L6-106-T0F

060 000 0o 0070 000 AYILOO TYIIAYD 000-TLE~T06-TO0F

060 0o o 000 000 000 SNCENYTTIOSIH 000-5S6-T06-T0%

INEWNTAOMAWI TYIIAYD - 106 2dag

0o oo 000 000 : 08" 0 TRIEANTD ~ (00 3deg Teidol

000 000 00°0 (o]sRdls] 000 AYILOO TYLIAVD 000-TL6~000-T0F

TTIENED - 000 2deg

szanzTpusd«y

92'0 98'Z6R°986 % TE E0T'F FI LOT'ET 00 000°0007°S SENNTATY TYLOL

9z 0 98" 7687986 'Y TE #0T’F PTLOTYET 00T000°000°G TYHENTD - 000 3dag Telol

oo-o 00 LE6LPE’T 0070 0o o OO LE6LKE’T FONYTIYE ONAI WO¥d WIISNYII 06£-669-000-T0F

000 00" E007ESL’E 000 000 0OERQESL’E SANNA HAHIO WOWI SUTISNYYL 000-669-000~10F

00700T (PYL LOT’ET) TP VOT’F FT"LOT'ET 000 LSTYEINT 000-5%9-000-T0F

TYEEANGD - 000 Idsg

sSINUIADS

aNNd LNEWSZAQYAHI TYLIdYD - T0b pund

agsn (TERIONGY) TYWION (ASYAYDAC) HSYMADINI  (TYWHONEY) TYIHHON 135309 qFaNINY NOTIZTEISET HIEHAN 19
1909 % ADONYIVE SZ0Z/0E/60 HINOHW SZOZ/DE/ 60 92~-520%

ITEETIVAY HCId RALIAILOY AONYINE QLA

drysumol ATTOH :€d
NISYM 328
MWd 20:G0 SZ20Z/80/01

SZ0Z/0£/60 ONIANT QOI¥=E4

L/S :9beg dTHSNMOL ATIOH d0Jd IMOdEY FANLIANEAXH ANV HANIATS



09°LBE'SLT L9719k ‘ERE

HONYIVE GNNJ GNE

{ZE°GLS'T) (zge-sLs'1) §Z-6Z02 - SHANLIANEAXI/SIEONIATY J0 LIN

L9 T9F’EFE L3198 ‘EVZ IONYTIYE ONOE "93Idg

00°00T GLT86% 99 (69°866 F1) (GL°86F 99!} 000 STINLIANZIXT 3 SAONHASYE J0 LEN

62787 86°8€% 'FLT 8Z2°686°CT z0"906°89 GOSPSERE SHENIIONTEAXT TYIOL

660 ELTLETTRE 0066 LTTLOVE 00 6FPS'ERe SANNIAT TYLOL

IONAA INYED TYLIAYD - £0F pung

62" 82 867 8E9FLT 6Z°686°GT Z0T906°89 00°SPGEvE STANLIGNIIXT TYIOL

62°82 86°8E£3 FLT 6Z 686°ST Z0°906 89 00°SFS/EYE AWILOO 'TYIIYD - €06 3dag Teacl

92°6L 00°9€L’¢E 00°0 00 vsz EI 00000781 NOIIYANACA ALINORNOD 000+8LE~E06~E0F

£2°ve 86°Z206‘0LT 627686 °ST fA AL b 1o 00°5¥876Z2T aNAdZ ISN¥I FAVIH NI - AYTIIAC THLIAYD 000-LLE-E06-£0F

000 0670 00°0 007 ¢ 000 INYYD IIOW SITYYHD - AYTIINC TYLIILWD 000-9L6-£06-€0F

AYTILAC TYLIAYD - £06 3dag

saIn3Tpuadxy

660 SLULET'TRE 0y 066 L2 Lov ‘e 0085 °CET SEANIATY TYIOL

6670 CLTLET'IRT 0F " 066 LETLOF'C 00-sEScke TYYINED - 900 3dag TeR30]

000 00°G¥57522 000 0070 007675622 ZONYIVE CNAJ WOYd YEISNYYL 06£-663-000-€0F

0o o 00-00078T 00" 0 0070 00°000°8T NOTIVANACH AZINAOWAOD 000-6L5-000-€0F

000 000 00°0 o0 0 000 SANA INYED I1SNEl IAIWNATO IHL 000-5L9-000-£0F

(oTohde} 0070 000 0070 0070 SANNA ILNYED LIOW SETIYED 000-FL3-000~E0F

o000t (LT LOF'2) 0F " 066 LT LOR'T oo LST93INTI 000-599-000-207

THEENED - 000 3ded

SINUIADY

ONQE INVYS TYIIdYD - £0F pung

aasn (TYNMONGY) TYRREON (ISYTIDEC) ISYEHDNI  (TYHNONEY) TYRYON LIANd qHANINY NOILAI¥OSHA HAERAN TO
19ad 3 FONY'TEE $Z0T/0E/60 HINORW SZOZ/0E/60 9Z-5202

ATGWTIIVAY ¥od ALIAILDY FONTIVE QLX

L/9

tabeg

SZ0C/0E/60 ENIANT d0I¥Ed
dTHSNMOL ATTIOH 404 I¥043Y FUQLIANIIXE ONV INNIATL

drysumo] ATTOH :4d
NI 1280
Wd 20380 5202/80/0T



0F"6L1°208°T
06°061°zz8’T

06°081°228°T
067081°228°T

SqN0d TIV - FONYIYd aNnd NS
SONNd TIY -~ FONUIVE annd -93g

00" 00T 9¢ 187599 (68 5EL7°5T) (95°pT187€99) 000 STINITANIAXE ¥ SAONHATY JO 13N
ZET 0T 69°TZF 0TS 867290 9% T£°FOT 92L 0079297980 L SaNRA TI¥ - S$EEALIGONIAXT TYIOL
68°0 G2 9LTvLE 9 €S LEL'0T SL 68£729 0o*een’acn’L SANNA TTY - SAONIATI TYIOL
TLTO9L0LT ZB8 ¥BB19 TONYTYE dNnd QNI
9¢ TFO’LOT wm.qu“p0H $2-%202 - SHNALIONEIXE/SIANIATI 30 1IN
Z8°¥88 19 28 k8819 IONYIYE gHOd Co3E
00" 00T (PG FER’T) 95°6865 PSTPES’T 0C-0 SHMNIIANIINT 3 SETANIATY 30 I3N
000 00°90£°897 0070 0070 00"%0£ ‘891 SEANLIANIANT TYICT
6071 9y " TLE'997 96°68¢ FSURER’T 00 S0E°89T SEANIATI TYI0L
ISINEHIACHART 4¥0d - ¥0F pung
000 00"20€°891 00" 0 0o o 00°90€ ‘891 STINLIANZEEXE TYIOL
000 00°90£°891 0070 0070 00°90E ‘89T aN0d INZRHACWARI d¥0yd - p0F 3da2g Tezel
000 00°90£°89T oG 000 00-90£‘89T ANAL IDEC0¥Md TYLIAYD OL SASNVNL 10v-S66-50F-50F
000 0o 0 oo 000 000 FONYIVE NN O3 ¥EISNYYL 06E-SBE~-F0F-F0F
OO INEREAQMAKWI a¥0d ~ b0y 1dag
saaniTpuadxy
60T OV 'TLF 99T 95°68% PSUPER’T 00°90€°89T SEONIATY TYLOL
60T 9F TLF ‘99T 95°68G PETFES’T 00"90E ‘89T TYEENED - 900 3dag T30l
00°0 00°908£ 8971 000 oo 00908897 AONYTIYE ONAA WO¥d ¥IISNYHI 0BE-669-000-%0F
000 000 0070 000 00°0 QNN TYNENTD WONJ ¥IISNYIL T01-669~000-%0F
00" 00T (BS ¥E8°T) 967689 pSTyER’T 000 LSAYIINT 000-599-000-%0F
TYIIANTS - 000 adag
SINUIAIY
SINIWIACHAWI d¥0d - b0y pung
Gasn (TYHEONEY) TEWION (FSYFEDFQ) ISYIUONI  (IVWHONTY) TYINOR LE90ng qEaNTRY NOILETEDSEa WIGRAN 1D
19q9 % TONYIVE SZ0Z/0E/60 HINOR 5Z0Z/0£/60 92-5202
HIGVIIvAY dod ALIAILOY HONYIYE GLX
$Z0Z/0£/60 ONIGNY QOI¥ad drysumol ATTCH :d4Q
: NIYYM zssn
Iy :abeg dIHSNMOL ATICH ¥Cd IH04dd M¥AITIANIAXE ANY SANIATI

Wd 20:50 S20Z2/80/01






10/09/2025

INVOICE GL DISTRIBUTION REPORT FOR HOLLY TOWNSHIP

POST DATES 09/18/2026 - 10/15/2025
BOTH JOURNALIZED AND UNJOURNALIZED

BOTH OPEN AND PAID

GL Number Invoice Line Desc

Amount

Fund 101 GENERAL FUND
Dept 171 SUPERVISOR
101-171-830-000 DUES, SUBS & TUITION

Dept 2563 TREASURER
101-253-830-000 DUES, SUBS & TUITION

Dept 2565 TREASURER ADMINISTRATION
101-255-830-000 DUES, SUBS & TUITION

Dept 257 ASSESSING
101-257-802-000 CONTRACTED SERVICES
101-257-802-000 CONTRACTED SERVICES

Dept 261 CODE ENFORCEMENT
101-261-802-000 CONTRACTED SERVICES

Dept 265 TOWNSHIP PROPERTIES
101-265-920-000 UTILITIES
101-265-920-000  UTILITIES
101-265-920-000 UTILITIES
101-265-920-000 UTILITIES
101-265-920-000 UTILITIES
101-265-920-000  UTILITIES
101-265-830-000 MAINTENANCE & REPAIRS
101-265-930-000 MAINTENANCE & REPAIRS
101-265-930-000 MAINTENANCE & REPAIRS
101-265-930-000 RUGS

101-265-930-000 MAINTENANCE & REPAIRS
101-265-930-000 MAINTENANCE & REPAIRS
101-265-930-000 MAINTENANCE & REPAIRS

PURE OAKLAND WATER SEMINAR

TREASURERS ASSOC. MEMBERSHIP RENEWAL

TREASURERS ASSOC. MEMBERSHIP RENEWAL

ASSESSOR SERVICES-SEP & OCT 2025
NOV 2025-ASSESSING SERVICES

CODE ENFORCEMENT SERVICES- AUG 2025

SEP 25-120 S SAGINAW 3T

SEP 25-4092 GRANGE HALLRD

SEP 25-13465 N. HOLLY RD

SEP 25-13409 N. HOLLY RD

SEP 25-4092 GRANGE HALL RD

SEP 2025-102 CIVIC DR

AUG 25- OFFICE CLEANING

SEP 25

FARMSTEAD S HOUSE FOUNDATION REPAIR
SEP 25

SEP 25

TOWNSHIP BUILDING-4092 GRANGE HALL RD
MEN'S BATHROOM REPAIR

19,140.00
9,5670.00

28,710.00

1,644.75

1,644.75

444.09
219.44
9.25
11.18
37.05
59.72
750.00
625.00
1,500.00
297.18
152.82
670.00

4,941.69



Dept 267 ARPA OPERATING EXPENSES

101-267-740-000 ARPA OPERATING EXPENSES SENIOR CHORE-9/1/25-9/30/25
101-267-740-000 ARPA OPERATING EXPENSES SENIOR CHORE-ADDITIONAL MOWS

Dept 272 GENERAL SERVICES

101-272-740-000 OPERATING EXPENSES
101-272-740-000 OPERATING EXPENSES
101-272-740-000 OPERATING EXPENSES
101-272-740-000 OPERATING EXPENSES
101-272-740-000 OPERATING EXPENSES
101-272-816-000
101-272-816-000
101-272-820-000
101-272-800-000
101-272-856-000

LEGAL NOTICES
INSURANCE

Dept 441 PUBLIC WORKS

101-441-821-000 CEMETERY
101-441-821-000 CEMETERY
101-441-821-000 CEMETERY
101-441-822-000 CLEANUP DAYS
101-441-826-000 ROAD MAINT.-CHLORIDE

Dept 660 COMMUNITY SERVICES
101-660-844-000 YOUTH ASSISTANCE

Dept 701 PLANNING

101-701-812-000 ENGINEER SERVICES
101-701-812-000 ENGINEER SERVICES
101-701-812-000 ENGINEER SERVICES

COPIER RENTAL 7/5-25-8/4/25
SEP 25-WATER

SEP 25-WATER

OCT 25-WATER COOLER

ALARM SERVICE-10/1/25-12/31/25

COMPUTER MAINTENANCE PC MONITORS
COMPUTER MAINTENANCE PC WORK STATIONS
ORDINANCE CODIFICATION ONLINE CODE HOSTING SUBSCRIPTION

SEPTEMBER 25
7/1/25-1/1/26 POLICY RENEWAL

AUG 25- CEMETERY LAWN MAINTENANCE
CEMETERY BRUSH AND TREE CLEANUP
CEMETERY BRUSH AND TREE CLEANUP
FALL CLEANUP 2025

2025 CHLORIDE-2ND INSTALLMENT

HAYA AGREEMENT-7/1/25-6/30/26

AUG 25-TOWNSHIP SERVICES
AUG 25-TOWNSHIP SAFETY PATH
SOUTH FLINT GRAVEL/GILLISPIE

Fund 206 FIRE AND EMERGENCY SPECIAL ASSESSMENT

Dept 338 FIRE AND EMERGENCY

206-338-740-000 OPERATING EXPENSES
206-338-740-000 OPERATING EXPENSES
206-338-740-000 OPERATING EXPENSES

SEP 25-2413 BELFORD RD WELL HYDRANT
SEP 25-4485 NELSON SCOTT DR WELL HYDRANT
SEP 25-13323 FISH LAKE RD WELL HYDRANT

11,371.00

11,850.50

249.58
30.45
21.95
14.00

372.69

1,586.89
6,681.92
1,246.87
1,053.00

11,955.35

360.00
1,280.00
860.00
3,953.26
43,388.00

49,851.25

3,500.00

3,500.00

3,451.07
1,286.96

5,200.03

117,886.57

29.07
46.27
28.07



Fund 248 BUILDING

Dept 371 BUILDING INSPECTION

249-371-740-000
249-371-740-000
249-371-740-000
249-371-740-000
249-371-805-000
249-371-805-000
249-371-806-000
249-371-8086-000
249-371-807-000
249-371-807-000
249-371-808-000
249-371-808-000

OPERATING EXPENSES
OPERATING EXPENSES
OPERATING EXPENSES
OPERATING EXPENSES
BUILDING INSPECTOR
BUILDING INSPECTOR
ELECTRICAL INSPECTOR
ELECTRICAL INSPECTOR
MECHANICAL INSPECTOR
MECHANICAL INSPECTOR
PLUMBING INSPECTOR
PLUMBING INSPECTOR

Fund 401 CAPITAL IMPROVEMENT FUND
Dept 901 CAPITAL IMPROVEMENT
401-901-973-000 TOWNSHIP HALL SERVICES { ENGINEER SERVICES - NEW TWP HALL

BUILDING DEPARTMENT FILE MAINTENANCE
9/22/25 - 9/25/22 BLDG DEPT FILE MAINTENANCE
9/29/25 - 10/02/25 BLDG DEPT FILE MAINTENACNCE
BUILDING DEPARTMENT FILE MAINTENANCE
9/01/25 - 9/15/25

9/16/25 - 9/130/25

9/01/25 - 9/15/25

9/16/25 - 9/30/25

9/01/25 - 9/16/25

9/16/25 - 9/30/25

9/01/25 - 9/15/26

9/16/25 - 9/30/25

Fund 101 GENERAL FUND

Fund 206 FIRE AND EMERGENCY SPECIAL ASSESSM

Fund 249 BUILDING
Fund 401 CAPITAL IMPROVEMENT FUND

Tota! For All Funds:

396.00
432.00
333.60
234.00
3,272.52
1,380.71
1,180.20
471.00
769.20
730.20
178.80

10,211.03

10,211.03

13,170.00

13,170.00

13,170.00

117,886.57
104.41
10,211.03
13,170.00

141,372.01






NORTH OAKLAND COUNTY FIRE AUTHORITY
Board of Directors Meeting
September 23, 2025, 6:30 PM
Location: NOCFA Station 1, 5051 Grange Hall Road, Holly, Ml 48442
MINUTES

CALL TO ORDER: Chairperson Kullis called the meeting to order at 6:32 pm.

MEMBERS PRESENT: Winchester, Miller, Johnson, Kullis
MEMBERS ABSENT; Stilwell

Motion by Winchester to excuse Stilwell. Supported by Mi!!er. A voice vote was taken. Al present voted
yes. The motion was carried 4/0. :

AGENDA APPROVAL

Motion by Winchester to approve the agenda as. presented Supported by Mlller A voice vote was
taken. All present voted yes. The motion was carrled 4/0, '

CONSENT AGENDA APPROVAL

Motion by Winchester to approve_jt"i_i.e_ Consent Agende"'es'._::;i;_e" nted. Supported by Johnson. A roll call
vote was taken, All present voted yes. The motion was carried 4/0.

PUBLIC COMMENT - ON AGENDA ITEMS ONLY = No publiccomment

PRESENTATIONS — None = %

UNFINISHED BUSINESS
1. Fire and Emergency Services Consolidation

No action taken, " -

NEW BUSINESS - None
REPORTS

[0 Chief's Report : "
+  Obtained three bids for the HVAC system — Professional = $14,800; Goyette - $24,300; Blessing =
$19,000. (At the__August meeting, the board approved up to $16k for the new system).
¢ Run Counts — 118 Total; Molly = 44; Rose Township = 43; I-75 = 14; Mutual Aid = 17
*  OT expense is $39k; budget of $25k was an estimate, 5o it is not unexpected to be over budget
e Open Shifts = 1% {contributing to OT budget overage)
e Average dailyruns =4
e Agst, Chief Smith
» 28k people at RenFest — several medical transports
*  Chief Seal
= Wrote a grant amendment; if approved, will have $80k for length of service awards
program
¢ Lt Dewey —no report

NOCFA Board Meeting 9/23/2025 Page 10f 2



e |tBlaska
* Open House is Oct. 11 at Station 1 - participants include MedStar, MSP, SSRT, Holly Area
Coalition. Holly Auto has donated two cars to cut up. Also bike raffle and hot dogs.
= Community events — Diehl’'s Orchard on Sept 27; HHS Career Day on Oct 15; Rose Hill 5k
upcoming.

L1 Firefighters Association — Lt Blaska
¢ Donated $500 for bikes for upcoming open house
*  Paid to have FF Smitty’s name on wall at Firemen’s Memorial (Roscommon County)
* Discussing banquet — possible Feb/Mar date

{1 Holly Township
*  New, upgraded recording equipment for board and comrﬁlsszon meetings
s (Clean-up day is Oct. 4 -
» Tire clean-up — have already removed 2 loads ofhres '

O Rose Township -

¢ Board meeting on 9/10 — discussed 4- way stop signs

s 73 residents are impacted by the Mifl Pond drawdown

¢ Last NoHaz event was Sept. 13 (2 N

¢ EGLE wilt be installing a night sky vision piétfbrm at Rosé Oaks Parks

*  Residents want speed limits reduced on curves on Milford Road

*  On Sep. 10 Debbie, Dan, and Chief Well attended the. Emerging Issues for Emergency
Management conference in Frankenmuth common: lssues include hiring, salaries, and
equipment costs -

0 Citizen at Large - Johnson : -
s Stated that the Emergmg Issues conference had very vaiuable |nformat10n and confirmed that
common :ssues revolve around money“_ __afarles hires, equipment

PUBLIC COMMENT - None

ADJOURNM_ENT%'Cﬁ'éifpér_s_qn Kull'isf'a.dj.:o_umed the ﬁ{éet_i__;?g at 7:20 pm.

Submitted by: Diane Hill, R_écording Se_é_i:_':é'tary

NOCFA Board Meeting 9/23/2025 - o ~ Page2of2



Holly Township
Planning Commission — Regular Meeting
Minutes of September 10, 2025

CALL TO ORDER: Commissioner Mitchell called the regular meeting of the Holly Township
Planning Commission to order at 6:30 p.m. located at the Holly Township Offices (Upstairs), 102
Civic Drive, Holly, Michigan 48442

PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCT;
ROLL CALL
Present

Glen Mitchell, Michael McCanney, Ben Armstead, Chuck Stoner, Leslie Jorgensen and Derek
Sommer,

Members Absent

Ray Kerton.

Others Present

Alexis Farrell, Planner and Clerk Winchester.

» Motion by Commissioner Mitchell to excuse Commissioner Kerton. Supported by
Commissioner Sommer. A voice vote was taken. All present voted yes. The motion
earried 6/0.

AGENDA APPROVAL

Motion by Commissioner Mitchell to approve the agenda as amended. Supported by
Commissioner Sommer. A voice vote was taken, All present voted yes, The motion carried 6/0.

PUBLIC COMMENT - For Items on the Agenda Only: No Public Comment.
PUBLIC HEARINGS: None.
APPROVAL OF MINUTES — August 13, 2025

Motion by Conumissioner Sommer to approve August 13, 2025 minutes, Supported by
Commissioner Armstead. A voice vote was taken. Al present voted yes. The motion carried 6/0.



Holly Township Planning Comnission — Regular Meeting September 10, 2025 Page 2 of 4

COMMUNICATIONS: None.
OLD BUSINESS
1. Planning Commission Bylaws.

Proposed amendments are being reviewed by the Township Attorney. The Commissioners took
no action.

2. Special Land Use Application from Jeff Yacobelli (Krane Heating & Cooling) 3008
Grange Hall Rd., Holly, MI 48442 to operate a Heating and Cooling Contractors Office
and Warehouse on parcel number 01-12-476-002 in a C2 Zoning District,

The Commission discussed details regarding the sidewalk requirements for the property.
Secretary Ben Armstead raised concerns about the proposed 8-foot pathway heading east across
the road to the plaza, noting there was no crossing going north. He mentioned that they had
recently approved a similar pathway for Trilogy less than a quarter mile north and suggested it
would be logical to connect these pathways. Armstead questioned the standard sidewalk width
requirements, stating he hadn't seen 6 foot wide szdewaiks in Holly before,

Armstead expressed his belief that deve_l_opment of szdewaiks-_ on the north side of Grange Hall
Road would likely happen first since they were closer to that goal. He emphasized that a north-
south pathway connection was important and suggested it would be easier to establish crossings
on Grange Hall Road first due to eXlstmg sntes between iocatlons -

Trustee Michael McCanney 1nqlured about safety path documentatlon referencing the Hubbell
Roth document which noted that the safety path was not properly documented in the submitted
drawings. He asked if this could be handled admmisnanvely, particularly regarding the 15-foot
easements lequned by Seetlon 14 137 8.

Connmssioner Jorgensen questloned the consistency in applying master plan requirements,
noting that cross access to adj'ace_nt parcels was being treated differently than sidewalk
requirements. She expressed concern about selectively enforcing different aspects of the master
plan, stating, "It kind of feels like a pick and choose what we're following in the master plan and
what we're actually making stick."

Commissioner Mitchell noted that the Commission generally agreed on wanting sidewalks, but
the issue was about connectivity since there were no other sidewalks currently connecting to this
location. He also clarified whether concrete or asphalt pathways were required.

The applicant, Jeff Yacabelli, addressed the Commission about these issues. Commissioner
Mitchell reiterated that Grange Hall Road was busy enough to warrant sidewalks on both sides,
and Fish Lake Road should also have sidewalks on at least one side. He stated that sidewalks
have been needed along Grange Hall Road for 30-40 years, especially given the school, senior
housing, and apartments in the area.




Holly Township Planning Commission — Regular Meeting September 10, 2025 Page 3 of 4

Regarding the dumpster location, the Commission discussed concerns about its placement on a
corner lot with significant public visibility. There was debate about whether the dumpster could
be placed between buildings or needed to be moved to a less visible location, Jeff Yacabelli
explained his intentions to use appropriate materials for the dumpster enclosure to ensure it
would not be an eyesore.

After deliberation, the Commission agreed to handle both the pathway/sidewalk requirements
and dumpster location through administrative approval processes.

» Commissioner McCanney moved to grant special land use approval for a heating and
cooling contractor operation considered a general building and landscape contractor's
offices and yards in the zoning ordinance. At 3008 G ange Hall Road, parcel ID number
01-28-302-012, contingent on the following con(htmn g

Approval of the associated site plan ami':'“' bimission for 'ifg'_';rgzquest is attained.

This is based upon the following ﬁnd __gs of fact:

» Consistency with adjacent propertres The proposed heating and coolmg
contractor operation is cons:stent with the cha’racter and infent of the General
Commercial District, whlch is‘intended to pr ide a district in which the
community's regional commerc:al and busmess fac1lltles can be centralized to
most efficiently serve the townshlp and surr Oundmg areas, The use is compatible
with adjacent: commerclal developments,"'pai'tlcularly nearby contractor’s offices
in the v1cmlty . : i

* Consistency thh the Master Plan. The proposed heatmg and cooling contractor
operation are consmtent with the site's Future Land Use designation of Rural

. Town Center in the Townshlp’s 2024 Master Plan,
o Consistency with the Grange Hall/Fish Lake Overlay District. The proposed use
- and physical imp_l:ovement_s_ to the site bring the property closer to compliance
with the Grange Hall/Fish I}'a_ke Overlay District. While the building is set back
and not mixed-use m nature, given that it is a reoccupation of an existing
building, the propoesed landscaping, pathway, and facade upgrades will greatly
improve the character and aesthetic of the site.

« Infrastructure exists to support the project. The proposed use is expected to be
adequately served by existing public utilities and infrastructure without
negatively impacting service levels for surrounding properties.

¢ Vehicular Access. The proposed use includes access from Fish Lake and Grange
Hall roads and is not expected to create major traffic concerns.

Supported by Commissioner Stoner. A voice vote was taken, All present voted yes.
The motion carried 6/0.



Holly Township Planning Commission — Regular Meeting September 10, 2025 Page 4 of 4

3. Site Plan Application by Jeff Yacobelli (Krane Heating & Cooling) 3008 Grange Hall
Rd., Holly, MI 48442 - Parcel 01-28-302-012

Commissioner McCanney moved to approve the site plan for the heating and cooling
contractor operation considered a general building and landscape contractors offices and
yards in the zoning ordinance at 3008 Grange Hall Road parcel ID is 01-28-302-012
contingent on the following conditions:

1. Approval of the associated special use permit for this request is obtained.

2. Administrative approval of the final plans is attained to address the following items for
compliance. 1 materials and additional construction details for the proposed pathways,

3. Dumpster enclosure material and side setback between the proposed enclosure office and
pole barn addition and : :

4. The photometric plan is updated to reflect the newly pmposed sconces,

Supported by Commissioner Stoner. A Vmce vote was taken. All {)resent voted yes, The
motion carried 6/0. =

REPORTS

Commissioner Mitchell mentioned tiiéé‘gRé&j-qu_ton wantéd--th_.invite people to an event on Friday
the 19th, which would include a free lunch at Kerton Lumber. .

PUBLIC COMMENT

Tom Metz 3402 Ray Rd Ho!ly addxessed the Comrmsswn

ADJ OURNMENT

» Motmn by Commlssmner Sommer to adjourn the meeting. Supported by
Commlssmner Armstead A vmce vote was taken. All present voted yes. The motion
carried 6!0 ' -

ADJ OURNMENT Commlssmner Mltchell adjourned the meeting at 7:32 pm.

Karin S, Winchester, Clerk



10/08/2025

Transaction.DateToPostOn
12:00:00 AM AND 9/30/2025 11:59:59 PM

Between

Reven

Record Type Exact Type Category Description Entries Amount
Permit Building Commercial Com, Remodel 1 150.09
Permit Building Commercial Com, REROOF i 35.00
Permit Building Commercial Com, RESHINGLE 3 420.00
Permit Building Commercial Commercial Base Permit Fee 6 600.00
Permit Building Inspection Inspection, NO PERMIT INSPECTION 1 65.00
Permit Building Inspection Inspection, Re-Inspection 1 65.00
Permit Building Registration Fee Registration - Builder 1 15.00
Permit Building Residential PLAN REVIEW 11 585.00
Permit Building Residential Res, Addition 2 161.17
Permit Building Residential Res, Garage 5 385.95
Permit Building Residential Res, Porch/Deck/Balcony 3 135.00
Permit Building Residential Res, Remodel i (67.50)
Permit Building Residential Res, RERGOF 2 895,20
Permit Building Residential Residental New SF 5 2,821.50
Permit Building Standard Item Base fee 12 750.00
Permit Electrical Alarm System FIRE ALARM 1 25,00
Permit Electrical Inspection ELECTRICAL SERVICE 1 75.00
Permit Electrical Inspection INSPECTION, SERVICE 7 525.00
Permit Electrical License Fee Registration - Electrical 2 30.0C
Permit Electrical Pian Review Plan Review, Electrical 1 130.00
Permit Electrical Service Service, 15 thru 200 amps 3 210,00
Permit Electrical Standard Item A/C Unit 1 20.00
Permit Electrical Standard Item Circuit 182.00
Permit Electrical Standard Item Fixture/Device 1 50.00
Permit Electrical Standard Item Motor, 1 -~ 20 KVA/HP 2 30.00
Permit Flectrical Standard Item NEW SF DWELLING UP TO 150 AMPS 3 750.00
Permit Electrical Standard Item PERMIT BASE FEE 9 675.00
Permit Electrical Standard Item Trench 4 50.00
Permit Mechanical Cooling CENTRAL A/C UP TO 8 HP 5 225,00
Permit Mechanical Heating GAS OR SOLIP FUEL MANUFACT FIREP 1 25,00
Permit Mechanical Inspection Inspection, Additional 1 65.00
Permit Mechanical License Fee Registration - Mechanical 1 15.00
Permit Mechanical Piping Piping, Gas, per Cutlet 4 104.00
Permit Mechanical Standard Item FUEL BURNING EQUIPMENT 3 135.00
Permit Mechanical Standard Item Humidifier 1 15,00
Permit Mechanical Standard Item Permit Base Fee 9 665.00C
Permit Mechanical Standard Itenm Res, New SF Dwelling 5 1,250.00
Permit Plumbing Distribution WATER DISTRIBUTION PIPING, RES 3 30.00
Permit Plumbing Inspection Inspection, Additional 4 260,00
Permit Plumbing License Fee Registration - Plumbing Company 1 15,00

Population: All Records



Permit Plumbing Sewer/Drain Sump Pump 3 30.00
Permit Plumbing Standard Item Fixture 5 376.00
Permit Plumbing Standard Item Meter, Sprinkler 1 10.0C0
FPermit Plumbing Standard Item Meter, Water 3 30.00
Permit Plumbing Standard Item Permit Base Fee 5 375.00
Permit Plumbing Standard Item Res, New SF Dwelling 2 550.00
Permit Plumbing Standard Item Stack 3 96.00
Permit SHED ZONING COM Plan Review SHED ZONING COMPLIANCE PERMIT 1 25.00

Totals 157 14,064.32

Population: All Records

Transaction.DateToPostOn

Between
12:00:00 AM AND 9/30/2025 11:59:59 PM

9/1/2025



HoLLy TOWNSHIP §

“Up NORTH IN OAKLAND COUNTY”?

102 Civic DRIVE

Horry, MI 48442

P: 248.634.9331

F: 248.634.5482

www. HOLLY TOWNSHIP.ORG

TO: Holly Township Board Members

FROM: Jenn Ryan
Holly Township Treasurer
248-634-9331
treasuret@hollytownship.org

SUBJECT: Treasurer’s Quarterly Investment Report
FY2026 Q1 Investments as of 09/30/2025

DATE: October 15, 2025

Please find included in this quarterly investment report the current cash and investment
information for FY2026 as of September 30, 2025, as well as some economic information

and updates on the Township’s investment strategy.

Investment Strategy
With the current inverted yield curve and the anticipated expenditures for the new townhall

project, the investment strategy is focused on short-term items.

Per the investment policy, the Township’s goals include limiting deposits to insurance
coverage, diversifying with no more than 50% of the portfolio in one type of investment,
and maintaining liquidity with maturity dates of two years or less.

Current authorized institutions include The State Bank, Multi-Bank Securities, and MI
CLASS. The plans for future investments include CDARS through The State Bank, federal
government obligations (such as US Treasury Bills) purchased through Multi-Bank
Securities, and participation in MI CLASS local government investment pool.

1 of 9



6307C

FL8LEGE S 0€ 821969 § %00t OSBOSLEIE S
- 00°026'86% Yot 00°600"008 YLETT STUT/S1/11 S20E/50/50 SPUO{ 3 A0 §[1  S9UHNIIG YU ORI [EIaUasy
SFIET COPI6FL %0 COFROPT V/N V/N 1T ASuo SINONIAG HUed-Ompy JLAELESD
CH086'T b 6P CLL O 6OFCLI o4ChE LY v/N V/N [00g JuaunsaAuf SSVTID TN V¥L
GL0 88°9¢ 88°9¢ YCEG LY V/N V/N [00d JUIWISIAUY SSVID TN avs 21g
89°¢Z8'l FARZTNE) LU¥SLLIT Y CFGL V/N V/N [0 TUamIsaAU] SSVIO TN speoyg
12°29¢°1 £69gECel €6'9ZE el SaChGT ¥/N V/N 00 HIAUNSIAUT SSVTIO IN S1uEIn)
€1 08szI 69°6ETHEL 69°065°T61°T YCHGL V/N V/N [00 IUIWISIAUT SSVID IN rende)
F1ES8 CLTGH'SL CLTOWSL k6L V/N V/N [00J 3USWISIAU] SSVID IN Surpmg
CoLEN'] TTSOTHOL TTSOTHOT VoEhG LY V/N V/N [00J 3U3UNSIAL] SSVIDIN PV 0l
05°980°1 SGTEEFOT SGTECFOI VCkG T F /N V/N [00 ] FUtmsanUf SSVTID TN DHd
#0820’ 9C°CTI'DES %29 9¢STI0CE Vel tOl ¥ V/N V/N [00J FIAWsaaU] SSVTID TN [Ef=tan
£8'6¢ LLHrE'L [l 908°C V/N ¥/N JUn023Y SO {ued IBasIoyy YL
86°C FE8ETL FEgel %08T V/N V/N Wnony §O1 U] AUIVNOYT) Vs 2]
96°¢HLT FCHCST6EE %6 FEPEST6ES %08T V/N V/N HUNO22Y 51 AUEY 2UORNOYT) pRiIquIa’)
CCLEE L 00°601°91F 00°601°9 Ly V/N V/N V/N Buppsyn) Jueg U0 *ELL
389 16096'SE 16'096°¢E V/N V/N V/N Fuppay) Uy UGS VoL
e 8LC9TY 8.°¢8EY V/N V/N V/N Bunjaauyy qurg FUOIOYD AVS 23]
[ALRYA 018r1601 %81 01'SFI'601L V/N V/N V/N Fuppay) qurg FUINOYD PRuIquio’)
WS
asaxoy (LLAd InJep 1BIE UOLIGJ redoung PIOTX Amnzepy aseydIng adAy UOTIMINISU] pun,g

'$93J YURQ 39U I¥e YIIYM ‘SIPaID STUILIED I $3Uss3IdDT SIUN020E FUROYD U UO | ASITAIUL,, 9], AL 21059 P[OS ST IUIWHSIAU I SSIUN $I$SO]

30 sured [eas 1u2s23dor 10U Op anfea dayTew pue [eddund usamiaq saousrapr digsumo] A[[OL 03 SIUSUnSIAU PUE YSED 24 JO ATEUWTWINS B ST MO[¢

OT[OJ3I0] J0IUISAAT]

$TOZT/0E/60 JO ST STAMSIATT 1) 9EOTALL
uoday wwounsaauy Arsirens) s, I2IMSEasT,

1o4fans



SUBJECT: Treasuret’s Quarterly Investment Report
FY2026 Q1 Investments as of 09/30/2025

Interfund Loan

Additionally, the General Fund loans money to the Fire SAD Fund each year for the July I NOCFA payment. This
loan is needed due to the timing of the property tax collections, as the Fire special assessment is on the winter fax
bill as payable on December 1. Once winter taxes are collected, the Fire SAD fund pays the January 1 NOCFA
payment and pays the balance of the loan back to the General Fund. The balance of the loan from the Genetral
Fund to the Fire SAD Fund was $150,000 on September 30, 2025.

Jof9



SUBJECT: Treasurer’s Quarterly Investment Report
F¥2026 Q1 Investments as of 09/30/2025

Economic Indicators

Inflation

The below inflation data from the US Bureau of Labor Statistics is the Consumer Price Index (CPT).
The CPI is a measure of the average change over time in the prices paid by urban consumers for a
matket basket of consumer goods. The CPT market basket is developed from detailed information
provided by families and individuals on what they actually bought.

CPI for the month of Aug 2025 was 0.3%, and the CPI since Aug 2024 was +2.9%.
The CPI information for Sep 2025 was not yet available.

Trend Sep23 | Dec23 | Mar24 | Jun24 Sep24 | Dec24 | Mar25 [ Jun25 | Aug25
CP1 3.7% 3.4% 3.5% 3.0% 2.4% 2.9% 2.4% 2,7% 2.9%
CPI-U, US City Average, Adl Tiems, 1 2-month percentage change

Unemployment

The below unemployment data from the US Bureau of Labor Statistics is part of the Current
Population Survey (CPS). The CPS is a monthly survey of households that provides comptehensive
data on the labor force, employment, unemployment, persons not in the labor force, hours of work,
earnings, and other demographic and labor force characteristics.

The average unemployment for 2024 was 4.0%, with unemployment in Aug 2025 at 4.3%.
‘The unemployment information for Sep 2025 was not yet available.

Trend Sep23 | Dec23 | Mar24 | Jun24 Sep24 | Dec24 | Mar25 Jun 25 Aug 25
CPs 38% 3.7% 3.8% 4.1% 4.1% 4.1% 4.2% 4.1% 4.3%
CPS, Unemploymwent, Seasonally Adjusted

4 0f9



SUBJECT: Treasurer’s Quarterly Investment Report
FY2026 Q1 Investments as of 09/30/2025

Federal Funds Rate

The below rate data from the Federal Reserve Bank of New York represent the effective federal
funds rate (EFFR) on the last day of each of the below months. The federal funds market consists
of domestic unsecured borrowings in U.S. dollats by depository institutions from other depository
institutions and cettain other entities, primarily government-sponsored entetprises. The Federal
Open Market Committee (FOMC) establishes the target rate, or range, for trading in the federal

funds market.

The effective federal funds rate for Sep 30, 2025 was 4.09%.

Trend Sep23 | Dec23 | Mar24 | Jun24 | Sep24 | Dec24 | Mar25 | JunZ5 Sep 25
EFFR 533% | 533% 5.33% 5.33% 4383% | 433% 4.33% 4.33% 4.09%

US Treasury Bill Rates
The below rate data from the US Department of the Treasury represents the bank discount treasury
bill rates on the last day of each of the below months. These rates can be used as a benchmark for

the interest rates earned by the Township’s investment portfolio.

The treasury bill rates for Sep 30, 2025 were 3.53% to 4.05%,

Trend Sep23 | Dee23 | Mac24 | Jun 24 Sep 24 | Dec24 | Mar25 | Jun25 Sep 25
4 weeks 529% | 533% 5.29% 5.27% 474% | 4.22% 4.24% 4.16% 4.05%
13 weeks 5.32% | 5.20% 5.23% 5.22% 4.52% | 4.23% 4.21% 4.24% 3.86%
26 weeks 532% [ 5.05% 5.13% 5H% 4.23% | 4.13% 4.08% 4.11% 3.72%
52 weeks 519% | 4.55% 479% 4.86% 3.85% | 3.98% 3.87% 3.81% 3.53%

Daily Treasury Bilf Rates, Bank Disconrit

5of9



Inflation CPI-U

10.0

8.0

6.0

4.0

2.0

9202 AeA
9z0e uer
5oz das
5z0¢ Aey
5202 uer
rzog dag
vz0z Aey
teoe uer
€20z das
€202 Ay
€202 uef
zzoz das
zzoe AeN
zzoz uer
Tzoz das
1202 AeN
120z uef
ozoe das
0z0z Aey
0zoz ver
6T0Z dag
6107 AeN
6T0¢ uer
870¢ das
810¢ Aeny
8T0Z uer
L7107 dag
LT0¢ AeN
£T0Z uer
9107 dag
9107 AeIA
910z uer
sToz dag
102 AN
10z uer
#10Z dag
¥10Z AelA
¥TOZ uer

(2.0)

60f9



Unemployment Rate

16.0

14.0

12.0

10.0

8.0

6.0

4.0

2.0

9z0Z AN
970z uer
szoe das
5202 Ae
S0z uef
oz das
ALY
vzaz uer
€20z das
gzoz Aey
€207 uer
zzog das
720z AeN
zzog ver
120z das
120Z Ae
TZ0z uer
ozoz das
020z AeN
0Z0z uer
670z das
6102 AelN
6T0Z uer
8107 das
8107 AN
8T0T uer
LT0z d3§
2102 AR
£T07 uer
9107 das
9107 AN
9T0T uer
sT0Z dag
STOZ ARIN
STOZ uer
¥Toz das
¥T0Z ARA
10z uer

7 of9



Effective Federal Funds Rate

6.00

5.00

4.00

3.00

2.00

1.00

9207 Ael
920¢ g4
SZ0Z AON
qzoz 8ny
5207 AeN
520t 994
#7202 AON
vzoz 8ny
rz0Z ABN
vz0z 9o
€207 AON
€202 3ny
€202 AeN
£207 924
2202 AON
zezoz 8ny
220z Aen
2202 924
1202 AcN
1207 8ny
1202 AeA)
1202 924
020Z AON
020z 8ny
070z AeN
020z 924
6102 AON
610z 8ny
6107 AN
6107 924
8107 AON
8107 3ny
8102 AeIN
8107 424
£T0Z AON
L10Z 8ny
£T02Z A
2107 994
9T0Z AON
910z 8ny
9107 A
9107 924

8of 9



520z 22d
szoz A
¥20¢ 390
%202 JeN
€20z 3ny
€207 uer
s zzoz unr
1202 AON
120z 4dy
0zoz das
020z 924
6102 INf
8107 22d
8107 Aol
LT0Z PO
2702 12N
9107 8ny
910z uer
STOZ Unf
¥T0¢ AON
10z 2dy
€107 dag
€107 924
zroz Inf
1102 220
1102 AN
0102 10
0107 1IN
6002 Sny
6007 Uer
8007 unf
£00Z AON
£00¢ 1dy
9007 das
9007 924
S00Z Inf
00z 220
00z AeN
£002 20
£002 1B
zooz 3ny
Z00z uer

US Treasury Bill Bank Discount Rates, 4-Weeks

6.00
5.00
4,00
3.00
2.00
1.00

(1.00)

9of 9






5142 East Holly Road

HOLLY TOWNSHIP Holly, Mi 48442

(248)534-0366

PARKS & REC REATION hollytownshipparks.org

September 15, 2025

Honorable George A. Kullis, Township Supervisor and
Honorable Holly Township Board of Trustees

102 Civic Drive

Holly, Mi 48442

Re: Resolution of Support for stiffs Mill Pond (Holly Mill Pond) and Dam
Dear Township Supervisor Kullis and Esteemed Township Board of Trustees,

On behalf of the Holly Township Parks & Recreation Commission, respectfully submit this letter as our formal
endorsement of the Village of Holly's initiatives concerning the Stiffs Mill Pond {Holly Mill Pond) and dam. Pursuant
to our meeting on September 10, 2025, the Commission adopted the attached resolution to signify our support.

Stiffs Mill Pond serves as an essential natural asset within the Village of Holly and plays a significant role in the
recreational and environmental fabric of our township. It supports local wildlife, offers opportunities for fishing and
paddling, and enhances cutdoor recreation while contributing to the greater Shiawassee River ecosystem. The dam
and mil! pond, with a history spanning over 185 years, is integral to Holly's heritage.

The Holly Township Parks & Recreation Commission commends the Village's ongoing efforts to preserve the Stiffs
Mill Pond and dam, recognizing the importance to both residents and local ecosystems. We encourage continued
transparency, stakeholder engagement, and strategic planning to ensure this landmark endures as a valued
community resource for future generations.

We appreciate your leadership and trust that this issue will be given appropriate attention.

Respectfully,
SBne Egew /J%MJ
Jane Bais DiSessa

Chairperson, Holly Township Parks & Recreation Commission

Attachment

Ce: The Holly Township Parks & Recreation Commission
Mary Blanchard, Manager, Holly Township Parks & Recreation

Follow Us on:
HollyTownshipParks

Tivwdy Forl Secroian @HTP_Streaming
aTfrey Carl (O0) @ExploreHTP
d‘ ExploreHTP

e o

v Mo bing







HOLLY TOWNSHIP PARKS COMMISSION

RESOLUTION OF SUPPORT FOR THE VILLAGE OF HOLLY REGARDING STIFFS MILL POND
(HOLLY MILL POND)

WHEREAS, stiffs Mill Pond (also known as Holly Mill Pond) has been a defining feature of the
Village of Holly and Holly Township for over 185 years, serving as a community landmark, wildlife habitat,

and recreational resource; and

WHEREAS, the dam embankment was rated “poor” in EGLE’s 2017 safety inspection, leading the
Village of Holly to take numerous steps in good faith to comply with state requirements, including
commissioning engineering reviews, undertaking corrective actions, creating the Holly Mill Pond Dam
Committee in 2025, and responding to EGLE’s emergency drawdown order in July 2025; and

WIIEREAS, Stiffs Mill Pond continues to play a vital role in the Shiawasses River system and in the
recreational and environmental landscape of Holly Township, offering opportunities for fishing, paddling, and

enjoyment of the outdoors; and

WHEREAS, the Village of Holly has initiated the process of pursuing a legal fake level petition with
Oakland County, which, if approved, would establish long-term oversight of Stiffs Mill Pond, ensure
sustainable management, and fairly distribute costs among those who benefit most directly; and

WHEREAS, the Holly Township Parks Commission recognizes the importance of preserving Stiffs
Mill Pond while respecting the residents and ecosystems it affects, and values transparency, collaboration, and

thoughtful planning in addressing these challenges;

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RES OLVED, that the Holly Township Parks Commission
bereby formally expresses its support for the Village of Holly in its efforts to preserve and maintain Stiffs Mill
Pond (Holly Mill Pond), including the pursuit of a legal lake level designation through Oakland County; and

BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED, that copies of this resolution shall be transmitted to the Village
of Holly, the Holly Township Board of Trustees, and Oakland County representatives as an expression of the
Commission’s full support.

Adopted this 10th day of September, 2025, by the Holly Township Parks Commission.



_______ w-a«@?/m//@

Jane Bais DiSessa, Chdifperson

Joe Hutchins, Commissioner

O st KRN 2 aett S N cai O
James P. Wright, Vice Chair

-~ effrey Caryl,"€dmmissioner



METRO Act
Bilateral Form
Revised 12/06/02

RIGHT-OF-WAY
TELECOMMUNICATIONS PERMIT

This permit issued this __ day of , 2025 by Holly Township. This permit is for an
initial term of 15 years and may be extended for three additional five year terms.

1 Definitions

1.1

1.2

1.3

1.4

1.5

1.6

1.7

1.8

1.9

Date of Issuance shall mean the date set forth above.
Manager shall mean Municipality’s Supervisor or his or her designee.

METRO Act shall mean the Metropolitan Extension Telecommunications Right-of
Way oversight Act, Act No. 48 of the Public Acts of 2002, as amended.

Municipality shall mean Holly Township Michigan, a municipal corporation,
Permit shall mean this document.

Company shall mean 123Net, LLC. .net organized under the laws of the State of
Michigan whose address is 24700 Northwestern Hwy, Ste. 700, Southfield,
Michigan 48075.

Public Right-of-Way shall mean the area on, below, or above a public roadway,
highway, street, alley, casement, or waterway, to the extent Municipality has the
ability to grant the rights set forth herein. Public Right-of-Way does not include a
federal, state, or private right-of-way.

Telecommunications Facilities or Facilities shall mean the Company's equipment
or personal property, such as copper and fiber cables, lines, wires, switches,
conduits, pipes, and sheaths, which are used to or can generate, receive, transmit,
carry, amplify or provide telecommunication services or signals.
Telecommunication Facilities or Facilities do not include antennas, supporting
structures for antennas, equipment shelters or houses, and any ancillary equipment
and miscellaneous hardware used to provide federally licensed commercial mobile
service as defined in Section 332(d) of Part I of Title III of the Communications
Act of 1934, Chapter 652, 48 Stat. 1064, 47 U.S.C. 332 and further defined as
commercial mobile radio service in 47 CFR 20.3, and service provided by any
wireless, two-way communications device.

Term shall have the meaning set forth in Part 7.



Grant

2.1

2.2

2.3

Municipality hereby issues a permit under the METRO Act to Company for access
to and ongoing use of the Public Right-of-Way identified on Exhibit A to construct,
install and maintain Telecommunication Facilities on the terms set forth herein.

2.1.1 Exhibit A may be modified by Manager upon written request by Company.

2.1.2 Manager shall not unreasonably condition or deny any request for a
modification of Exhibit A, Any decision of Manager on a request by
Company for a modification may be appealed by Company to Municipality’s
legislative body.

Overlashing. Company shall not allow the wires or any other facilities of a third
party to be overlashed to the Telecommunication Facilities without Municipality’s
prior written consent. Municipality’s right to withhold written consent is subject to
the authority of the Michigan Public Service Commission under Section 361 of the
Michigan Telecommunications Act, MCL § 484.2361.

Nonexclusive. The rights granted by this Permit are nonexclusive. Municipality
reserves the right to approve, at any time, additional permits for access to and
ongoing usage of the Public Right-of-Way by telecommunications providers and to
enter into agreements for use of the Public Right-of-Way with and grant franchises
for use of the Public Right-of-Way to telecommunications providers, cable
companies, utilities and other providers.

Contacts, Maps and Plans

3.1

Company Contacts. The names, addresses and the like for engineering and
construction related information for Company and its Telecommunication Facilities
are as follows:

3.1.1 The address, e-mail address, phone number and contact person (title
or name) at Company’s local office (in or near Municipality) is
123Net, LLC
24700 Northwestern Hwy, Suite 700, Southfield, MI 48075
Permitting Department
permits{@123.net
248-228-8286
Amanda Griffith, Director of Design & Permitting

3.1.2 If Company’s engineering drawings, as-built plans and related records for
the Telecommunication Facilities will not be located at the preceding local
office, the location address, phone number and contact person (title or
department) for them is:




3.2

3.3

123Net, LLC

24700 Northwestern Hwy, Suite 700, Southfield, Mi 48075
Permitting Department

permits@123.net

248-228-8286

Amanda Griffith, Director of Design & Permitting

3.1.3 The name, title, address, e-mail address and telephone numbers

3.1.4

of Company’s engineering contact person(s) with responsibility for the
design, plans and construction of the Telecommunication Facilities is:
123Net, LLC

24700 Northwestern Hwy, Suite 700, Southfield, MI 48075
Permitting Department

permits(@123.net

248-228-8286

Amanda Griffith, Director of Design & Permiiting

The address, phone number and contact person (title or department)
at Company’s home office/regional office with responsibility for
engineering and  construction related aspects of  the
Telecommunication Facilities is

123Net, LLC

24700 Northwestern Hwy, Suite 700, Southfield, MI 48075
Permitting Department

permits@123.net

248-228-8286

Amanda Griffith, Director of Design & Permitting

3.1.5 Company shall at all times provide Manager with the phone number at which

3.1.6

a live representative of Company (not voice mail) can be reached 24 hours
a day, seven (7) days a week, in the event of a public emergency 888-440-
0123

Company shall immediately notify Municipality in writing as set forth in
Part 12 of any inaccuracies or changes in the preceding information.

Route Maps. Within ninety (90) days after the substantial completion of new
Facilities in a Municipality, a provider shall submit route maps showing the location
of the Telecommunication Facilities to both the Michigan Public Service
Commission and to the Municipality, as required under Section 6(7) of the METRO
Act, MCLA 484.3106(7).

As-Built Records. Company, without expense to Municipality, shall, upon forty-

cight (48) hours notice, give Municipality access to all "as-built" maps, records,
plans and specifications showing the Telecommunication Facilities or portions
thereof in the Public Right-of-Way. Upon request by Municipality, Company shall

3



inform Municipality as soon as reasonably possible of any changes from previously
supplied maps, records, or plans and shall mark up maps provided by Municipality
so as to show the location of the Telecommunication Facilities.

4 Use of Public Right-of-Way

4.1

4.2

4.3

4.4

No Burden on Public Right-of-Way. Company, its contractors, subcontractors, and
the Telecommunication Facilities shall not unduly burden or interfere with the
present or future use of any of the Public Right-of-Way. Company’s aerial cables
and wires shall be suspended so as to not endanger or injure persons or property in
or about the Public Right-of-Way. If Municipality reasonably determines that any
portion of the Telecommunication Facilities constitutes an undue burden or
interference, due to changed circumstances, Company, at its sole expense, shall
modify the Telecommunication Facilities or take such other actions as Municipality
may determine is in the public interest to remove or alleviate the burden, and
Company shall do so within a reasonable time period. Municipality will attempt to
require all occupants of a pole or conduit whose facilities are a burden to remove or
alleviate the burden concurrently.

No Priority. This Permit does not establish any priority of use of the Public Right-
of-Way by Company over any present or future permittees or parties having
agreements with Municipality or franchises for such use. In the event of any dispute
as to the priority of use of the Public Right-of-Way, the first priority shall be to the
public generally, the second priority to Municipality, the third priority to the State
of Michigan and its political subdivisions in the performance of their various
functions, and thereafter as between other permit, agreement or franchise holders,
as determined by Municipality in the exercise of its powers, including the police
power and other powers reserved to and conferred on it by the State of Michigan.

Restoration of Property. Company, its confractors and subcontractors shall
immediately (subject to seasonal work restrictions) restore, at Company’s sole
expense, in a manner approved by Municipality, any portion of the Public Right-of-
Way that is in any way disturbed, damaged, or injured by the construction,
installation, operation, maintenance or removal of the Telecommunication Facilities
to a reasonably equivalent (or, at Company’s option, better) condition as that which
existed prior to the disturbance. In the event that Company, its contractors or
subcontractors fail to make such repair within a reasonable time, Municipality may
make the repair and Company shall pay the costs Municipality incurred for such
repair.

Marking. Company shall mark the Telecommunication Facilities as follows: Aerial
portions of the Telecommunication Facilities shall be marked with a marker on
Company’s lines on alternate poles which shall state Company’s name and provide
a toll-free number to call for assistance. Direct buried underground portions of the
Telecommunication Facilities shall have (1) a conducting wire placed in the ground
at least several inches above Company’s cable (if such cable is nonconductive); (2)

4




4.5

4.6

4.7

4.8

at least several inches above that, a continuous colored tape with a statement to the
effect that there is buried cable beneath; and (3) stakes or other appropriate above
ground markers with Company’s name and a toll-free number indicating that there
is buried telephone cable below. Bored underground portions of the
Telecommunication Facilities shall have a conducting wire at the same depth as
the cable and shall not be required to provide the continuous colored tape. Portions
of the Telecommunication Facilities located in conduit, including conduit of others
used by Company, shall be marked at its entrance into and exit from each manhole
and handhole with Company’s name and a toll-free telephone number.

Tree Trimming. Company may trim trees upon and overhanging the Public
Right-of-Way so as to prevent the branches of such trees from coming into
contact with the Telecommunication Facilities, consistent with any standards
adopted by Municipality. Company shall dispose of all trimmed materials.
Company shall minimize the trimming of trees to that essential to maintain the
integrity of the Telecommunication Facilities. Except in emergencies, all
trimming of trees in the Public Right-of-Way shall have the advance approval of
Manager.

Installation and Maintenance. The construction and installation of the
Telecommunication Facilities shall be performed pursuant to plans approved by
Municipality. The open cut of any Public Right-of-Way shall be coordinated with
the Manager or his designee. Company shall install and maintain the
Telecommunication Facilities in a reasonably safe condition. If the existing poles
in the Public Right-of-Way are overburdened or unavailable for Company’s use, or
the facilities of all users of the poles are required to go underground then Company
shall, at its expense, place such portion of its Telecommunication Facilities
underground, unless Municipality approves an alternate location. Company may
perform maintenance on the Telecommunication Facilities without prior approval
of Municipality, provided that Company shall obtain any and all permits required
by Municipality in the event that any maintenance will disturb or block vehicular
traffic or are otherwise required by Municipality.

Pavement Cut Coordination. Company shall coordinate its construction and all
other work in the Public Right-of-Way with Municipality’s program for street
construction and rebuilding (collectively “Street Construction™) and its program for
street repaving and resurfacing (except seal coating and patching) (collectively,
“Street Resurfacing”™).

4.7.1 The goals of such coordination shall be to encourage Company to conduct all
work in the Public Right-of-Way in conjunction with or immediately prior to any
Street Construction or Street Resurfacing planned by Municipality.

Compliance with Laws. Company shall comply with all laws, statutes, ordinances,
rules and regulations regarding the construction, installation, and maintenance of
its Telecommunication Facilities, whether federal, state or local, now in force or

5



4.9

4.10

4.11

4,12

4.13

which hereafter may be promulgated. Before any installation is commenced,
Company shall secure all necessary permits, licenses and approvals from
Municipality or other governmental entity as may be required by law, including,
without limitation, all utility line permits and highway permits. Municipality shall
not unreasonably delay or deny issuance of any such permits, Jicenses or
approvals. Company shall comply in all respects with applicable codes and
industry standards, including but not limited to the National Electrical Safety
Code (latest edition adopted by Michigan Public Service Commission) and the
National Electric Code (latest edition), Company shall comply with all zoning and
land use ordinances and historic preservation ordinances as may exist or may
hereafter be amended. This section does not constitute a waiver of Company’s
rights to challenge laws, statutes, ordinances, rules or regulations now in force or
established in the future.

Street Vacation, If Municipality vacates or consents to the vacation of Public Right-
of-Way within its jurisdiction, and such vacation necessitates the removal and
relocation of Company's Facilities in the vacated Public Right-of-Way, Company
shall, as a condition of this Permit, consent to the vacation and remove its Facilities
at its sole cost and expense when ordered to do so by Municipality or a court of
competent jurisdiction. Company shall relocate its Facilities to such alternate route
as Municipality, applying reasonable engineering standards, shall specify.

Relocation. If Municipality requests Company to relocate, protect, support,
disconnect, or remove its Facilities because of street or utility work, or other public
projects, Company shall relocate, protect, support, disconnect, or remove its
Facilities, at its sole cost and expense, including where necessary to such alternate
route as Municipality, applying reasonable engineering standards, shall specify. The
work shall be completed within a reasonable time period.

Public Emergency. Municipality shall have the right to sever, disrupt, dig-up or
otherwise destroy Facilities of Company if such action is necessary because of a
public emergency. If reasonable to do so under the circumstances, Municipality will
attemipt to provide notice to Company. Public emergency shall be any condition
which poses an immediate threat to life, health, or property caused by any natural or
man-made disaster, including, but not limited to, storms, floods, fire, accidents,
explosions, water main breaks, hazardous material spills, etc. Company shall be
responsible for repair at its sole cost and expense of any of its Facilitics damaged
pursuant to any such action taken by Municipality.

Miss Dig, If eligible to join, Company shall subscribe to and be a member of "MISS
DIG," the association of utilities formed pursuant to Act 174 of the Public Acts of
2013, as amended, MCL § 460.721 et seq., and shall conduct its business in
conformance with the statutory provisions and regulations promulgated thereunder.

Underground Relocation. If Company has its Facilities on poles of Consumers
Energy, Detroit Edison or another electric or telecommunications provider and

6



4.14

Consumers Energy, Detroit Edison or such other electric or telecommunications
provider relocates its system underground, then Company shall relocate its Facilities
underground in the same location at Company’s sole cost and expense.

Identification. All personnel of Company and its contractors or subcontractors who
have as part of their normal duties contact with the general public shall wear on their
clothing a clearly visible identification card bearing Company’s name, their name
and photograph. Company shall account for all identification cards at all times.
Every service vehicle of Company and its contractors or subcontractors shall be
clearly identified as such to the public, such as by a magnetic sign with Company’s
name and telephone number.

5 Indemnification

5.1

52

5.3

Indemnity. Company shall defend, indemnify, protect, and hold harmless
Municipality, its officers, agents, employees, elected and appointed officials,
departments, boards, and commissions from any and all claims, losses, liabilities,
causes of action, demands, judgments, decrees, proceedings, and expenses of any
nature (collectively “claim” for this Part 5) (including, without limitation, attorneys’
fees) arising out of or resulting from the acts or omissions of Company, its officers,
agents, employees, contractors, successors, or assigns, but only to the extent such
acts or omissions are related to the Company’s use of or installation of facilities in
the Public Right-of-Way and only to the extent of the fault or responsibility of
Company, its officers, agents, employees, contractors, successors and assigns.

Notice, Cooperation. Municipality will notify Company promptly in writing of any
such claim and the method and means proposed by Municipality for defending or
satisfying such claim. Municipality will cooperate with Company in every
reasonable way to facilitate the defense of any such claim. Municipality will consult
with Company respecting the defense and satisfaction of such claim, including the
selection and direction of legal counsel.

Settlement. Municipality will not settle any claim subject to indemnification under
this Part 5 without the advance written consent of Company, which consent shall
not be unreasonably withheld. Company shall have the right to defend or settle, at
its own expense, any claim against Municipality for which Company is responsible
hereunder.

6 Insurance

6.1

Coverage Required. Prior to beginning any construction in or installation of the
Telecommunication Facilities in the Public Right-of-Way, Company shall obtain
insurance as set forth below and file certificates evidencing same with Municipality.
Such insurance shall be maintained in full force and effect until the end of the Term.
In the alternative, Company may satisfy this requirement through a program of seli-
insurance, acceptable to Municipality, by providing reasonable evidence of its

7



6.2

6.3

financial resources to Municipality. Municipality’s acceptance of such self-
insurance shall not be unreasonably withheld.

6.1.1 Commercial general liability insurance, including Completed Operations
Liability, Independent Contractors Liability, Contractual Liability
coverage, railroad protective coverage and coverage for property damage
from perils of explosion, collapse or damage to underground utilities,
commonly known as XCU coverage, in an amount not less than Five Million
Dollars ($5,000,000).

6.1.2 Liability insurance for sudden and accidental environmental contamination
with minimum limits of Five Hundred Thousand Dollars ($500,000) and
providing coverage for claims discovered within three (3) years after the term
of the policy,

6.1.3 Automobile liability insurance in an amount not less than One Million Dollars
($1,000,000).

6.1.4  Workers' compensation and employer's liability insurance with statutory
limits, and any applicable Federal insurance of a similar nature.

6.1.5 The coverage amounts set forth above may be met by a combination of
underlying (primary) and umbrella policies so long as in combination the
limits equal or exceed those stated. If more than one insurance policy is
purchased to provide the coverage amounts set forth above, then all policies
providing coverage limits excess to the primary policy shall provide drop
down coverage to the first dollar of coverage and other contractual
obligations of the primary policy, should the primary policy carrier not be
able to perform any of its contractual obligations or not be collectible for any
of its coverages for any reason during the Term, or (when longer) for as long
as coverage could have been available pursuant to the terms and conditions
of the primary policy.

Additional Insured. Municipality shall be named as an additional insured on all
policies (other than worker’s compensation and employer’s liability). All insurance
policies shall provide that they shall not be canceled, modified or not renewed unless
the insurance carrier provides thirty (30) days prior written notice to Municipality.
Company shall annually provide Municipality with a certificate of insurance
evidencing such coverage. All insurance policies (other than environmental
contamination, workers' compensation and employer's liability insurance) shall be
written on an occurrence basis and not on a claims made basis.

Qualified Insurers. All insurance shall be issued by insurance carriers licensed to do

business by the State of Michigan or by surplus line carriers on the Michigan
Insurance Commission approved list of companies qualified to do business in



7

6.4

6.5

6.6

Term

7.1

Michigan. All insurance and surplus line carriers shall be rated A+ or better by A.M.
Best Company.

Deductibles. If the insurance policies required by this Part 6 are written with

retainages or deductibles in excess of $50,000, they shall be approved by Manager in
advance in writing. Company shall indemnify and save harmless Municipality from
and against the payment of any deductible and from the payment of any premium
on any insurance policy required to be furnished hereunder.

Contractors. Company’s contractors and subcontractors working in the Public Right-
of-Way shall carry in full force and effect commercial general liability,
environmental contamination liability, automobile liability and workers’
compensation and employer liability insurance which complies with all terms of this
Part 6. In the alternative, Company, at its expense, may provide such coverages for
any or all its contractors or subcontractors (such as by adding them to Company’s
policies).

Insurance Primary. Company’s insurance coverage shall be primary insurance with
respect to Municipality, its officers, agents, employees, elected and appointed
officials, departments, boards, and commissions (collectively “them”). Any
insurance or self-insurance maintained by any of them shall be in excess of
Company’s insurance and shall not contribute to it (where “insurance or sclf-
insurance maintained by any of them” includes any contract or agreement providing
any type of indemnification or defense obligation provided to, or for the benefit of
them, from any source, and includes any self-insurance program or policy, or self-
insured retention or deductible by, for or on behalf of them).

Term. The term (“Term™) of this Permit shall be until the earlier of:

7.1.1 Fifteen years (15) from the Effective Date; provided, however, that following
such initial term there shall be three subsequent renewal terms of five (5)
years, Fach renewal term shall be automatic unless Municipality notifies
Company in writing, at least twelve (12) months prior to the end of any term
then in effect, that due to changed circumstances a need exists to negotiate
the subsequent renewal with Company. Municipality shall not unreasonably
deny a renewal term; or

7.1.2 When the Telecommunication Facilities has not been used to provide
telecommunications services for a period of one hundred and eighty (180)
days by Company or a successor or an assignee of Company; or

7.1.3 When Company, at its election and with or without cause, delivers written
notice of termination to Municipality at least one-hundred and eighty (180)
days prior to the date of such termination; or

9



10

7.1.4  Upon either Company or Municipality giving written notice to the other of
the occurrence or existence of a default by the other party under Sections
4.8, 6, 8 or 9 of this Permit and such defaulting party failing to cure, or
commence good faith efforts to cure, such default within sixty (60) days (or
such shorter period of time provided elsewhere in this Permit) after delivery
of such notice; or

7.1.5  Unless Manager grants a written extension, one year from the Date of
Issuance if prior thereto Company has not started the construction and
installation of the Telecommunication Facilities within the Public Right-of-
Way and two years from the Date of Issuance if by such time construction
and installation of the Telecormmunication Facilities is not complete.

Performance Bond or Letter of Credit

8.1

Fees

Municipal Requirement. Municipality may require Company to post a bond (or letter
of credit) as provided in Section 15(3) of the METRO Act, as amended [MCL §
484.3115(3)].

Establishment; Reservation. The METRO Act shall control the establishment of
right-of-way fees. The parties reserve their respective rights regarding the nature
and amount of any fees which may be charged by Municipality in connection with
the Public Right-of-Way.

Removal

10.1

10.2

Removal; Underground. As soon as practicable after the Term, Company or its
successors and assigns shall remove any underground cable or other portions of the
Telecommunication Facilities from the Public Right-of-Way which has been
installed in such a manner that it can be removed without trenching or other opening
of the Public Right-of-Way. Company shall not remove any underground cable or
other portions of the Telecommunication Facilities which requires trenching or
other opening of the Public Right-of-Way except with the prior written approval of
Manager. All removals shall be at Company’s sole cost and expense.

10.1.1 For purposes of this Part 10, “cable” means any wire, coaxial cable, fiber
optic cable, feed wire or pull wire,

Removal; Above Ground. As soon as practicable after the Term, Company, or its
successor or assigns at its sole cost and expense, shall, unless waived in writing by
Manager, remove from the Public Right-of-Way all above ground elements of its
Telecommunication Facilities, including but not limited to poles, pedestal mounted
terminal boxes, and lines attached to or suspended from poles.

10



10.3  Schedule. The schedule and timing of removal shall be subject to approval by
Manager. Unless extended by Manager, removal shall be completed not later than
twelve (12) months following the Term. Portions of the Telecommunication
Facilities in the Public Right-of-Way which are not removed within such time
period shall be deemed abandoned and, at the option of Municipality exercised by
written notice to Company as set forth in Part 12, title to the portions described in
such notice shall vest in Municipality.

11 Assignment. Company may assign or transfer its rights under this Permit, or the persons or
entities controlling Company may change, in whole or in part, voluntarily, involuntarily, or
by operation of law, including by merger or consolidation, change in the ownership or
control of Company’s business, or by other means, subject to the following:

11.1 No such transfer or assignment or change in the control of Company shall be effective
under this Permit, without Municipality’s prior approval (not to be unreasonably
withheld), during the time period from the Date of Issuance until the completion of
the construction of the Telecommunication Facilities in those portions of the Public
Right-of-Way identified on Exhibit A.

1.2  After the completion of such construction, Company must provide notice to
Municipality of such transfer, assignment or change in control no later than thirty
(30) days after such occurrence; provided, however,

11.2.1 Any transferee or assignee of this Permit shall be qualified to perform under
its terms and conditions and comply with applicable law; shall be subject to
the obligations of this Permit, including responsibility for any defaults
which occurred prior to the ftransfer or assignment; shall supply
Municipality with the information required under Section 3.1; and shall
comply with any updated insurance and performance bond requirements
under Sections 6 and 8 respectively, which Municipality reasonably deems
necessary, and

11.2.2 In the event of a change in control, it shall not be to an entity lacking the
qualifications to assure Company’s ability to perform under the terms and
conditions of this Permit and comply with applicable law; and Company
shall comply with any updated insurance and performance bond
requirements under Sections 6 and 8 respectively, which Municipality
reasonably deems necessary.

11.3  Company may grant a security interest in this Permit, its rights thereunder or the
Telecommunication Facilities at any time without notifying Municipality.

12 Notices

12.1 Notices. All notices under this Permit shall be given as follows:

11



13

12.1.1 If to Municipality, to Holly Township Clerk, 102 Civic Drive, Holly,
Michigan 48442

12.1.2. If to 123Net LLC Permitting Department, 24700 Northwestern Hwy,
Suite 700, Southfield, MI 48075.

12.2 Change of Address. Company and Municipality may change its address or personnel

13.1

13.2

133

13.4

13.5

13.6

13.7

for the receipt of notices at any time by giving notice thereof to the other as set forth
above.

QOther items

No Cable, OVS. This Permit does not authorize Company to provide commercial
cable type services to the public, such as “cable service” or the services of an “open
video system operator” (as such terms are defined in the Federal Communications
Act of 1934 and implementing regulations, currently 47 U.S.C. §§ 522 (6), 573 and
47 CFR § 76.1500).

Duties. Company shall faithfully perform all duties required by this Permit.

Effective Date. This Permit shall become effective when issued by Municipality
and Company has provided any insurance certificates and bonds required in Parts 6
and 8, and signed the acceptance of the Permit.

Authority. This Permit satisfies the requirement for a permit under Section 5 of the

METRO Act [MCL 484.3105].

Amendment. Except as set forth in Section 2.1 this Permit may be amended by the
written agreement of Municipality and Company.

Interpretation and_Severability, The provisions of this Permit shall be liberally
construed to protect and presetve the peace, health, safety and welfare of the public,
and should any provision or section of this Permit be held unconstitutional, invalid,
overbroad or otherwise unenforceable, such determination/holding shall not be
construed as affecting the validity of any of the remaining conditions of this Permit.
If any provision in this Permit is found to be partially overbroad, unenforceable, or
invalid, Company and Municipality may nevertheless enforce such provision to the
extent permitted under applicable law.

Governing Law. This Permit shall be governed by the laws of the State of
Michigan.

12




HOLLY TOWNSHIP

By:

Date:

Acknowledgement of Receipt: Company acknowledges receipt of this Permit granted by
Municipality.

123.Net, LLC

By:

Date:

13




Exhibit A
Public Right-of-Way to be Used by Telecommunication Facilities

This Permit covers all existing Company Telecommunication Facilities, which as defined in
Section 1.8 of this Permit, do not include antennas, supporting structures for antennas, equipment
shelters or houses, and any ancillary equipment and miscellaneous hardware, in the public rights-
of-ways located in Holly Township as of the date this Amendment is issued by the Township.

The Public Right-of-Way that Company is granted access to and the use of for approximately 0
linear feet aerial cable installation and 41,902 proposed underground fiber optic cable in conduit
as shown in the Route Map below dated June 16, 2025, subject to the approval of more specific
drawings.

If Company seeks to install Telecommunication Facilities in the public rights-of-way located in
the Township in addition to Company’s Telecommunication Facilities in existence as of the date
of this Permit, the construction and installation of such additional Facilities shall be conditioned
on the following:

1. Company shall submit a completed Telecommunications Construction Permit
application to the Holly Township Clerk’s Office for each proposed installation
project, prior to commencing installation.

2. Company shall submit to the Township Clerk and Township Engineer copies of
any and all documents submitted to, and permits issued by the Road Commission
for Oakland County and/or Michigan Department of Transportation within 10
days of issuance of such permits and at least 10 days prior to beginning
installation of any Telecommunication Facilities.

3. Company shall not begin construction or installation of such additional
Telecommunication Facilities in the rights-of-way located in the Township prior
to the Township’s issuance of a construction approval letter, which shall serve
as Municipality's approval of plans for the construction and installation of
Telecommunication Facilities under Section 4.6 of this Permit.

4. Company shall submit to the Township Clerk a written request to modify this
Permit, which such request shall include an Amended Exhibit I Route Map
conforming to the distances and types of installations allowed by Road
Commission for Oakland County and/or Michigan Department of
Transportation permit(s).

5. Township Supervisor approval of Company’s Amended Exhibit | Route Map as
a modification under Section 2.1 of this Permit, with such Amended Exhibit 1
Route Map to be attached to and become a part of this Permit, superseding and
replacing the original Exhibit | Planned Routes Map.

Company is responsible for separately obtaining whatever permits and approvals are
required by law for access to, use of, and installations in state or federal rights-of-way.

14



Exhibit B
Bond

As authorized under Section 8 of the Permit that this Exhibit is attached to and part of a Bond
conforming to these specifications and requirements is required in an amount that does not exceed
the reasonable cost to ensure that the Public Right-of-Way is returned to its original condition during
and after Company’s access and use.

The Bond shall be in the form of cash or surety bond form approved by the Municipality and shall
be posted with Municipality before any construction or engineering permit may be issued, and as a
requirement for effectiveness of this Permit. Construction shall be done in accordance with
Municipality Ordinances, Rules and Regulation.

The initial amount of the Bond required by this Permit shall be $10,000 and may be increased by
Municipality and communicated to Company based on the construction plans submitted to and
approved by Municipality.

15






1
2 (boUDS UBIH 4|10k %
~ WN|pels [00UIS UK _or@v =

~

'

wEUnUED T IURINEISa) URI XA, UNH
2 et @y

A

Joue LaICH g

J 4 I = - 3

L __leanspdBolessieloy Uebiusli)
Ty A <5400 JI09 swietio

ST PYETH ) # .

.,M;‘...-. e - «Lr@..ﬁ .

LY -

- 7 A o
£ COqu\n_ﬁfJﬂ_mﬂ_- ,
AN

LD [EUONENGS S ETIERID,
R TS

‘A

LA ¢
l...l pyostWEU

A s r
ot

siaplog AlioH Jo abepa

s4aplog diysumaL AloH

U Z06' Lt - punasbiapun Bunsxy o
puaben

10% 019 1BNET L
570 ‘9L aunp
diysumol AioH [

del v uqiyxg |




Exhibit B
Bond

As authorized under Section 8 of the Permit that this Exhibit is attached to and part of a Bond
conforming to these specifications and requirements is required in an amount that does not exceed
the reasonable cost to ensure that the Public Right-of-Way is returned to its original condition during
and after Company’s access and use.

The Bond shall be in the form of cash, or an irrevocable bank letter of credit form or surety bond
form approved by the Municipality and shall be posted with Municipality before any construction
or engineering permit may be issued, and as a requirement for effectiveness of this Permit.
Construction shall be done in accordance with Municipality Ordinances, Rules and Regulation.

The initial amount of the Bond required by this Permit shall be determined and communicated to
Company by Municipality based on the construction plans submitted to and approved by
Municipality, with any construction or engineering permit bond for that amount, allowed to serve
as the Bond required by this Permit.

15



BS&A
CUSTOMER ORDER FORM

This Customer Order Form (this “Order”}is entered into as of the “Effective Date” identified below between BS&A
Software, LLC, a Delaware limited fiability company with offices located at 14565 Abbey Lane, Bath, Mi 48808 (“BS8A")
and the “Customer” identified below. Capitalized terms usedbut not defined in this Order have the meanings given them
elsewherein the Agreement {as defined below). BS&Aand Customer may be referred to herein collectively as the “Parties”
or individually as a “Party”. The Parties hereby agree as follows:

Customer Name: Holly Township, Cakland County M| Sponsor Contact: [__]

Billing Address; [} Sponsor Phone: [__]

Accounts Payable Email: [__] Sponsor Email: [__]

Platform and Fee Information

Effective Date: [__]

Platform Description: Those modules and feature packs of BS&A’s proprietary hosted enterprise resource planning
service for managing local government functions that are identified in the Pricing Sheet.

“Usage Limitations”;
O Number of Authorized Users: [INSERT # OF SEATS]
[0 Other: [INSERT OTHER USAGE LIMITATIONS, IF ANY]

“Initial Subscription Period”: [One (1) year] Subscription Fees:
$33,095, payable [annually].

The “Initial Subscription Period” shall begin the at the earlier date of

¢ One (1) year after the Effective Date for any new software modutes
s Six (6) months after the Effective Date for any software modules upgrading from BS&A’s .NET Platform

Professional Services {if any}: $40,100 Service Fees {if any):

Other Customer Terms:

The Customer Agreement (the “Agreement”), made and entered into as of the Effective Date between BS&A and
Customer, includes and incorporates: (i) the above Order; {ii) any Orders previously or subsequently entered into by the
Parties; and (iii) the Customer Terms and Conditions, which are attached to this Order (the “Termsand Conditions”}; and
(iv) the Pricing Sheet attached to this Order {the “Pricing Sheet”).

BS&A SOFTWARE, LLC HOLLY TOWNSHIP, OAKLAND COUNTY MI
Name: Name:
Title: Title:
Page 1 of 12

GDSVF&HW154876 .4



EXHIBITA
CUSTOMER TERMS AND CONDITIONS
The Parties agree as follows:
1. Definitions.

11 “Authorized User” means Customer’s employees, consultants, contractors, and agents: (i) who are
authorized by Customer to access and use the Platform under this Agreement; and (ii) for whom access to the Platform
has been purchased hereunder,

1.2 “BS&A IP” means the Platform and any and all intellectual property provided to Customer or any
Authorized User in connection with the foregoing. For the avoidance of doubt, BSZA IP includes Usage Data and any
information, data, or other content derived from BS&A’s provision of the Platform but does not include Customer Data,

1.3 “Business Contact Data” means Personal Information that relates to BS&A's relationship with
Customer, including, by way of example and without limitation, the names and contact information of Authorized Users
and any other data BS&A collects for the purpose of managing its relationship with Customer, identity verification, or as
otherwise required by applicable faws, rules, or regulations.

14 “Customer Data” means information, data, and other content, in any form or medium, that is
submitted, posted, or otherwise transmitted by or on behalf of Customer or an Authorized User through the Platform,
including Business Contact Data; providedthat, for purposes of clarity, Customer Data as defined herein does potinclude
Business Contact Data or Usage Data.

1.5 “Documentation” means Company’s end user documentation relating to the Platform, including any
user guides.
1.6 “Harmful Code” means any software, hardware, or other technology, device, or means, including any

virus, worm, malware, or other malicious computer code, the purpase or effect of which isto permit unauthorized access
to, or to destroy, disrupt, disable, distort, or otherwise harm or impede in any manner any (I} computer, software,
firmware, hardware, system, or network; or{iij any applicationor functionof any of the foregoing or the security, integrity,
confidentiality, or use of any data processed thereby.

1.7 “Order” means: (i) a purchase order, order form, or other ordering document entered into bythe Parties
that incorporates this Agreement by reference; or {lI} If Customer registered for the Platform through BS&A’s online
ordering process, the resuits of such online ordering process.

1.8 “Personal Information” means any information that, individually or in combination, does orcan identfy
a specific individual or by or from which a specific individual may be Identified, contacted, or located, including without
Mo

limitation all data considered “personal data”, “personally identifiable information”, or something simitar under applicable
laws, rules, or regulations relating to data privacy.

1.5 “Platform” 'has the meaning set forth on the Order.

1.10 “Professional Services” means training, migration, implementation, integration, or other professional
services that are provided to Customer in connection with its use of the Platform hereunder.

1.11 “Subscription Period” means the time period identifled on the Order during which Customer's
Authorized Users may access and use the Platform.

1.12 “Third-Party Products” means any third-party products provided with, integrate d with, or incorporated
into the Platform.

1.13 “Usage Data” means usage data collected and processed by BS&A in connection with Customer’s use
of the Platform, including without limitation test configuration metadata, activity logs, and data used to optimize and
maintain performance of the Platform, and to investigate and prevent system abuse. For purposes of clarity, Customer
Data is not Usage Data and Usage Data does not contain Personal Information or any other Customer Data.

1.14 "Usage Limitations” means the usage limitations set forth in this Agreementand the Order, including
without limitation any limitations on the number of Authorized Users (if any), and the applicable product, pricing and
support tiers agreed-upon by the Parties,

Page 2 0of 12
GDSVF&H\W154876.4



2. Access and Use.

2.1 Provision of Access. Subject to and conditioned on Customer’s compliance with the terms and
conditions of this Agreement, including without limitation the Usage Limitations, Customer may, solely through its
Authorized Users, access and use the Platform during the Subscription Period on a non-exclusive, non-transferable (except
in compliance with Section 15.9), and non-sublicensable basis. Suchuse s limited to Customer’s internal business purposes
and the features and functionalities specified in the Order. Each Authorized User must have its own unique account on the
Platform and Authorized Users may not share their account credentlals with one another or any third party, To the extent
provided by faw, Customer will be responsible for all of the acts and omissions of its Authorized User s in connectionwith
this Agreement and for all use of Authorized Users’ accounts.

2.2 Documentation License. Subject to and conditionad on Customer’s compliance with the terms and
conditions of this Agreement, Company hereby grants to Customer a non-exclusive, non-transferable {except in
compliance with Section 15.9), and non-sublicensable license to use the Documentation during the Subscription Period
solely for Customer’s internal business purposes in connection with its use of the Platform.

23 Use Restrictions. Customer shall not use the Platform for any purposes beyond the scope of the access
granted in this Agreement. Customer shall not at any time, directly or indirectly, and shall not permit any Authorized Users
to: {i} copy, modify, or create derivative works of any BS&A IP, whether in whole or in par; (ii) rent, lease, lend, sell, license,
sublicense, assign, distribute, publish, transfer, or otherwise make availabie the Platform or Documentation to any third
party; (iii) reverse engineer, disassemble, decompile, decode, adapt, or otherwise attempt to derive or gain access to any
software component of the Platform, in whole or in part; {iv) remove any proprietary notices from any BS&AIP; (v} use
any BS&A IP in any manner or for any purpose that infringes, misappropriates, or otherwise violates any intellectual
property right or otherright of any person, or thatviolates any applicable law; (vi} access or use any BS&A IP for purposes
of competitive analysis of BS&A or the Platform, the development, provision, or use of a competing software service or
product, or any other purpose that is to BS&A’s detriment or commercial disadvantage ; {vii) bypass or breach any securlty
device or protection used by the Platform or access or use the Platform other than by an Authorized User through the use
of valid access credentials; {vili) input, upload, transmit, or otherwise provide to or through the Platformany information
or materials, Including Customer Data, that are unlawful or injurious or that infringe or otherwise violate any third party’s
intellectual property or other rights, or that contain, transmit, or activate any Harmful Code; or (ix) use any BS&A P for
any activity where use or fallure of the BS&A IP could lead to death, personal injury, or environmental damage, including
life support systems, emergency services, huclear facilities, autonomous vehicles, or air traffic control.

24 Reservation of Rights. BS&A reserves all rights not expressly granted to Customer in this Agreement
Except for the fimited rights and licenses expressly granted under this Agreement, nothing in this Agreement grants, by
implication, waiver, estoppel, or otherwise, to Customer or any third party any intellectual property rights or other right
title, or interest in or to the BS&A IP.

2.5 Suspension. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary in this Agreement, BS&A may temporarily
suspend Customer’s and any Authorized User’s access to any portion or all of the Platform if: (i} BS&A reasonably
determines that (a) there is a threat or attack on any of the BS&A IP; (b) Customer’s or any Authorized User’s use of the
BS&A IP disrupts or poses a security risk to the BS&A IP or to any other custamer or vendor of BS&A; (c) Customer, or any
Authorized User, is using the BS&A IP for fraudulent or illegal activities; (d) subject to applicable law, Custemer has ceased
to continue its business in the ordinary course, made an assignment for the benefitof creditors or similar dispositionof its
assets, or become the subject of any bankruptey, reorganization, liquidation, dissolution, or similar proceeding; {e) BS&A's
provision of the Platform to Customer or any Authorized User is prohibited by applicable law; or (f) any Customer Data
submitted, posted, or otherwise transmitted by or on behalf of Customer or an Authorized User through the Platform may
infringe or otherwise violate any third party's intelfectual property or other rights; {ii} any vendor of BS&A has suspended
or terminated BS&A’s access to or use of any Third-Party Products required to enable Customerto accessthe Platformy or
{iil) in accordance with Section 7.1 {any such suspension described in subclauses (i}, {if), or (iii), a “Service Suspension’).
BS&A shall use commercially reasonable efforts to provide written notice of any Service Suspension to Customer and to
provide updates regarding resumption of access to the Platform following any Service Suspension. BS8A shall use
commercially reasonable efforts to resume providing access to the Platform as soon as reasonably possible after the event
giving rise to the Service Suspension is cured. BS&A will have no liability for any damage, iabilities, losses (including any
loss of data or profits), or any other consequences that Customer or any AuthorizedUser may incuras a result of a Service
Suspension,

2.6 Business Contact Data and Usage Data. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary in this Agreement

Page 3 of 12
GDSVF&HW154876.4



BS&A may process Business Contact Data: {i) to manage BS&A’s relationship with Customer; (i} to carry out BS&A’s core
business operations, such as, by way of example and without limitation, accounting, audits, tax preparation and for filing
and compliance purposes; (iii) to monitor, investigate, prevent and detect fraud, security incidents and other misuse of
the Platform, and to prevent harm to BSRA, Customer, and BS&A's other customers: {iv) for identity verification purposes;
and {v) to comply with applicable laws, rules, and regulations refating to the processing and retention of Persenal
Information to which BS&A may be subject. BS&A may process Usage Data for any lawful purpose, including to monitor,
maintain, and optimize the Platform.

3, Customer Responsibilities.

31 General. Customer is responsible and liable for alt uses of the Platform and Documentation resulting
fromaccess provided by Customer, directly or indirectly, whether such access or use is permitted by or in violation of this
Agreement. Without limiting the generality of the foregoing, Customer is responsible for all acts and omissions of
Authorized Users, and any act or omission by an Authorized User that would constitute a breachof this Agreementif taken
by Customer will be deemed a breach of this Agree ment by Customer, Customer shall use reasonable efforts to make al
Authorized Users aware of this Agreement’s provisions as applicable to such Authorized User’s use of the Platform and
shalt cause Authorized Users to comply with such provisions.

3.2 Inird-Party Products. BS&A may from time to time make Third-Party Products available to Customer or
BS&A may allow for certain Third-Party Products to be integrated with the Platform to allow for the transmission of
Customer Data from such Third-Party Products into the Platform, For purposes of this Agreement, such Third-Party
Products are subject to their own terms and conditions. BS&A is not responsible for the operation of any Third-Party
Products and makes no representations or warranties of any kind with respect to Third-Party Products or their respecive
providers, If Custormer does not agree to abide by the applicable terms for any such Third-Party Products, then Customer
should not install or use such Third-Party Products. By authorizing BS&A to transmit Customer Data from Third-Party
Products into the Platform, Customer represents and warrants to BS&A that it has alt right, power, andauthority to provide
such authorization.

33 Customer Control and Responsibility. Customer has and will retain sole responsibility for: (i) all

Customer Data, including its contentand use; (ii) all information, instructions, and materials provided by or on behalf of
Customer or any Authorized User in connection with the Platform; {iii) Customer’s information technology infrastructure,
including computers, software, databases, electronic systems {including database management systems), and networks,
whether operated directly by Customer or through the use of third-party platforms or service providers {“Customer
Systems”); {iv) the security and use of Customer’s and its Authorized Users’ access credentials; and {v) all access to and
use of the Platform directly or indirectly by or through the Customer Systems or its or its Authorized Users’ access
credentials, with or without Custormer’s knowledge or consent, including all results obtained from, and all conclusions,
decisions, and actions based on, such access or use. For purposes of clarity, Customer Systems do not include BS&A's
information technology infrastructure, including computers, software, databases, electronic systems {including database
management systems, and networks operated directly by BS&A and its third-party service providers.

4, Support, Subject to and conditioned on Customer’s compliance with the terms and conditions of this Agreement,
including payment of applicable Fees, BS&A will use commercially reasonable efforts to pravide Customer with basic
customer support via BS&A’s standard support channels during BS&A’s normal business hours.

5. Professional Services. BS&A will perform Professional Services as described in an Order, Customer will provide
BS&A all reasonable cooperation required for BS&A to perform the Professional Services, including without limitation
timely access to any reasonably required Customer materlals, information, or personnel. Subject to any limitations
identified in an Order, Customer will reimburse BS&A’s reasonable travel and lodging expenses incurred In providing
Professional Services. To the extent the Professional Services resultin any work product of any kind of character {"Work
Product”), all such Work Product will remain owned solely and exclusively by BS&A and, to the extent any such Work
Product consists of enhancements, improvements, or other madifications to the Platform, suchWork Praduct may be used
by Customer solely in connection with Customer’s authorized use of the Platform under this Agreement.

6. Insurance. During the Subscription Period, BS&A shall procure and maintain appropriate insurance policies with
coverage limits that are commensurate with industrystandards and sufficient to protect agalnst potential risks associated
with this Agreement. The insurance policies shall be obtained from reputable and finandally sound insurance providers,
and BS&A agrees to add Customeras an additional insured and provide proof of such insurance upon request by Customer.

7. Fees and Taxes.

Page 4 of 12
GDSVF&H\9154876,4




7.1 Eees. The Platform may be provided for a fee or other charge. Customer shall pay BS&Athe fees {“Fees’)
identified in the Order without offset or deduction st the cadence identified in the Order (e.g., monthiy or annually). BSZA
may Increase the Fees annually, provided that BS&A wilt provide Customer atleast thirty (30}days’ notice of such increase
prior to the end of the then-current Term, The amount of the Fee increase will be in BS&A's sole discretion, providedthat
Customer agrees that the increase may be at least the greater of: {i) five percent {5%}; or {iij the annual increase In the
relevant Consumer Price Index for all Urban Consumers published by the Bureau of Labor Statistics for the then-current
calendar year, In each case as compared to the Fees applicable during then-current Term, as applicable. Fees paid by
Customer are non-refundable, Customer shall make all payments hereunder in US dollarsby ACH or via another reasonable
method chosen by BS&A, to such account as BS&A may specify inwriting from time to time, or byanother mutually agreed-
upon payment method. If Customer pays via invoice, Customer will pay the invoiced amount within thirty (30} calendar
days of the invoice date. If Customer fails to make any payment when due, and Customer has not notified BS&A in writing
within ten (10} days of the payment becoming due and payable that the payment is subject to a good faith dispute, without
limiting BS&A’s ather rights and remedies, and to the fullest extent permissible underapplicabte law: {i) BS&A may charge
interest on the undisputed past due amount at the rate of 1.5% per month, calculated daily and compounded monthlyor,
if lower, the highest rate permitted under applicable law; {ii} Customer shall reimburse BS&A for all reasonable costs
incurredby BS&A in collecting any late payments or interest, including attorneys’ fees, court costs, and collection agency
fees; and (iii) if such failure continues for ten {10) days or more, BS&A may suspend Customer’s and its Authorized Users’
access to all or any part of the Platform until such amounts are paid in full,

7.2 Taxes. All Fees and other amounts payable by Customer under this Agreement are exclusive of taxes
and similar assessments. Customer is responsible for all sales, use, and excise taxes, and any other simifar taxes, duties,
and charges of any kind imposed by any federal, state, or focal governmentat or regulatary authority on any amounts
payable by Customer hereunder, other than any taxes imposed on BS&A’s income. At the time of this Agreement,
Customer is exempt from Michigan Sales Tax,

8. Confidential Information.

8.1 Definition. From time to time during the Subscription Period, either Party may disclose or make avaifable
to the other Party information about its business affairs, products, confidential intellectual property, trade secrets, third-
party confidential information, and other sensitive or proprietary information, whether orally or in written, electron, or
other form or media that: {i) is marked, designated or otherwise identified as “confidential” or something similar at the
time of disclosure orwithin a reasonable period of time thereafter; or {ii) would be considered confidential by a reasonable
person given the nature of the information or the circumstances of its disclosure [collectively, “Confidential Information”}.
Exceptfor Personal Information, Confidential Information does notinclude information that, at the time of disclosure Is:
{a) in the public domain; (b) known to the receiving Party at the time of disclosure; {c) rightfully obtained by the receiving
Party on a non-confidential basis froma third party; or (d) independently developedby the receiving Party without use of,
reference to, or reliance upon the disclosing Party’s Confidential Information,

8.2 Duty. The receiving Party shall notdisclose the disclosing Party’s Confidential Information to any person
or entity, except to the receiving Party’s employees, contractors, and agents who have a need to know the Confidental
Information for the recelving Party to exercise its rights or perform Its obligations hereunder ("Representatives”). The
recelving Party will be responsible for all the acts and omissions of its Representatives as they relate to Confidential
Information hereunder. Notwithstanding the foregoing, each Party may disclose Confidential Information to the limited
extentrequired {i) in order to comply with the order of a courtor other governmental body, or as otherwise necessaryto
comply with applicable law, provided that the Party making the disclosure pursuant to the order shali first have given
written notice to the other Party to allow the other Party to make a reasonable effort to obtain a protective order; {i) to
establish a Party’s rights under this Agreement, including to make required court filings. Further, notwithstanding the
foregoing, each Party may disclose the terms and existence of this Agreement to its actual or potential investors,
debtholders, acquirers, or merger partners under customary confidentiality terms; or {iii) In order to comply with a lawful
Freedom of Information Act request.

8.3 Return of Materlals; Effects_of Termination/Expiration. On the expiration or termination of the
Agreement, the receiving Party shall promptly return to the disclosing Party all copies, whether in written, electronic, or
other form or media, of the disclosing Party’s Confidential Information, or destroy all such copies and certify in writing to
the disclosing Party that such Confidential information has been destroyed. Each Party’s obligations of non-use and non-
disclosure with regard to Confidential Information are effective as of the Effective Date and will expire one (1} year from
the date of termination or expiration of this Agreement; provided, however, with respect to any Confidential Information
that constitutes a trade secret (as determined under applicable law), such obligations of non -discfosure will survive the

Page 5 of 12
GDSVF&HW154876.4



termination or expiration of this Agreement for as long as such Confidential information remains subjectto trade secret
protection under applicable law and is not required to be disclosed under applicable Freedom of information Act
requirements.

9. Data Security and Processing of Personal Information.

9.1 Customer Dala. Customer hereby grants to BS&A a non-exclusive, royalty-free, worldwide license to
reproduce, distribute, and otherwise use and display the Customer Data and perform all acts with respect to the Custormer
Data as may be necessary for BS&A to provide the Platform and otherwise perform its obligations hereunder. Custormer
may exportthe Customer Data at any time through the features and functionalities made available via the Platform. For
the avoidance of doubt, aggregated, de-identified, and anonymized portions, sets, or other combinations of Customer
Data that do not contain personally identifying elements of Customer's identity or of any Authorized Users are Usage Dab
and not Customer Data.

9.2 Secyrity Measures. BS&A will implement and maintaln commercially reasonable administrative,
physical, and technical safeguards designed to protect Customer Data (including Personal Information provided as part of
Business Contact Data) from unauthorized access, use, alteration, or disclosure.

9.3 Processing of Personal Information. BS&A's rights and obligations with respectto Personal Information
that it collects directly from individuals (if any) are set forth in BS&A's Privacy Policy (as amended from time to time in -
accordancewith its terms). Personat Information processed by BS&A on behalf of Customer is considered Customer Dat
and is governed by the terms of this Agreement,

10. Intellectual Property Ownership; Feedback.

101 BS&A IP. Customer acknowledges that, as hetween Customer and BS&A, BS&A owns all right, title, and
interest, including alt intellectual property rights, in and to the BS&A 1P and, with respect to Third-Party Products, the
applicable third-party providers own all right, title, and Interest, including alf intellectuai property rights, in and to the
Third-Party Products,

102 Usage Data. Customer acknowledges that, as between BS&A and Customer, BS&A owns all right, title,
and interest, including all intellectual property rights, in and to the Usage Data.

103 Customer Data. BS&A acknowledges that, as between BS&A and Customer, Customer owns all right,
title, and interest, including all intellectual property rights, in and to the Customer Data.

104 Feedback. i Customer or any of its employees or contractors sends or transmits any communications
or materials to BS&A by mail, email, telephone, or otherwise, suggesting or recommending changes to the BS&A P,
including withoutfimitation, new features or functionality relating thereto, or any comments, questions, suggestions, or
the like (“Feedback”), BS&A Is free to use such Feedback irrespective of any other obligation or limitation between the
Parties governing such Feedback.

i1. Mutual Warranties; Disclaimer of Other Warranties.

111 Mutual Warranties. Each party hereby represents and warrants to the other that: {i) it has the full right,
power, and authority to enter into, execute, and performits obligations under this Agreement without any conflict with
or violation of any other obligations to which it may be subject; and (il) this Agreement is binding on such party in
accordance with its terms.

112 Disclaimer of Other Warranties, THE BS&A [P IS PROVIDED “AS IS” AND BS&A HEREBY DISCLAIVS ALL
WARRANTIES, WHETHER EXPRESS, IMPLIED, STATUTORY, OR OTHERWISE. BS&A SPECIFICALLY DISCLAIMS ALL IMPLIED
WARRANTIES OF MERCHANTABILITY, FITNESS FOR A PARTICULAR PURPOSE, TITLE, AND NON-INFRINGEMENT, AND ALL
WARRANTIES ARISING FROM COURSE OF DEALING, USAGE, OR TRADE PRACTICE. BS&A MAKES NO WARRANTY OF ANY
KIND THAT THE BS&A IP, OR ANY PRODUCTS OR RESULTS OF THE USE THEREOF, WiLL MEET CUSTOMER’S OR ANY OTHER
PERSON'S REQUIREMENTS, OPERATE WITHOUT INTERRUPTION, ACHIEVE ANY INTENDED RESULT, BE COMPATIBLE OR
WORK WITH ANY SOFTWARE, SYSTEM OR OTHER PLATFORM, OR BE SECURE, ACCURATE, COMPLETE, FREE OF HARMFUL
CODE, OR ERROR FREE.

12, indemnification.
121 BS&A Indemnification.

{a) BS&A shall indemnify, defend, and hotd harmless Customer from and against any and all

Page 6 of 12
GDSVF&H\WO154876.4




losses, damages, liabilities, costs {including reasonable attorneys’ fees) (“Losses”} incurred by Customer resulting from any
third-party claim, suit, action, or proceeding (“Third-Party Clalm”) brought against Customer alleging that the Platform, or
any use of the Platform in accordance with this Agreement, infringes or misappropriates such third party’s US intellectual
property rights; provided that Customer promptly notifies BS&A in writing of the claim, cooperates with BS&A, and allows
BS&A sole authorlty to control the defense and settlement of such claim,

(b} If such a clalmis made or appears possible, Customer agrees to permit BS&A, at BS&A'ssoke
discretion: to (i) modify or replace the Platform, or component or part thereof, to make it non-infringing; or (ii} obtain the
right for Customer to continue use. If BS&A determines that neither alternative is reasonably commercially available, BS&A
may terminate this Agreement, in Its entirety or with respect to the affected component or part, effective immediatelyon
written notice to Customer, and as Customer’s sole and exclusive remedy therefor, BS&A will provide to Customer a
prorated refund of prepaid, unused Fees attributable to the Platform (andnot including any one-time Fees for Professional
Services).

{c) This Section 12.1 will notapply to the extent that the alleged infringement arises from: (i use
of the Platform in combination with data, software, hardware, equipment, or technology not provided by BS&A or
authorized by BS&A in writing; (i} modifications to the Platform not made by BS&A; (iii) Customer Datg; or (iv) Third-Party
Products.

122 Customer Indemnification. To the extent permitted under applicable laws, Customer shall indemnify,
hold harmiess, and, at BS&A's option, defend BS&A from and against any Losses resulting from any Third-Party Claim
alleging that the Customer Data, or any use of the Customer Data in accordance with this Agreement, infringes or
misappropriates such third party’sintellectual property or other rights and any Third-Party Claims based on Customer’s or
any Authorized User’s {i) negligence or willful misconduct; (i) use of the Platform in a manner not authorized by this
Agreement; or {iii} use of the Platform in combination with data, software, hardware, equipment or technology not
provided by BS&A or authorized by BS&A in writing; in each case provided that Customer may not settle any Third-Party
Claim against BS&A unless BS&A consents to such settlement, and further provided that BS&A will have the right, atits
option, to defend itself against any such Third-Party Claim or to participate in the defense thereof by counsel of its own
choice.

123 Sole Remedy. THIS SECTION 12.3 SETS FORTH CUSTOMER'S SOLE REMEDIES AND BS&A’S SOLE LIABILITY

AND OBLIGATION FOR ANY ACTUAL, THREATENED, OR ALLEGED CLAIMS THAT THE PLATFORM INFRINGE,
MISAPPROPRIATE, OR OTHERWISE VIOLATE ANY INTELLECTUAL PROPERTY RIGHTS OF ANY THIRD PARTY.

13. Limitations of Liabiflty. IN NO EVENT WILL EITHER PARTY BE LIABLE UNDER OR IN CONNECTION WiTH THIS
AGREEMENT UNDER ANY LEGAL OR EQUITABLE THEORY, INCLUDING BREACH OF CONTRACT, TORT {INCLUDING
NEGLIGENCE), STRICT LIABILITY, AND OTHERWISE, FOR ANY: (i) CONSEQUENTIAL, INCIDENTAL, INDIRECT, EXEMPLARY,
SPECIAL, ENHANCED, OR PUNITIVE DAMAGES; (ii) INCREASED COSTS, DIMINUTION IN VALUE OR LOST BUSINESS,
PRODUCTION, REVENUES, OR PROFITS; (iii} LOSS OF GOODWILL OR REPUTATION; (iv) USE, INABILITY TO USE, LOSS,
INTERRUPTION, DELAY OR RECOVERY OF ANY DATA, OR BREACH OF DATA OR SYSTEM SECURITY; OR (v) COST OF
REPLACEMENT GOODS OR SERVICES, IN EACH CASE REGARDLESS OF WHETHER BS&A WAS ADVISED OF THE POSSIBILITY
OF SUCH LOSSES OR DAMAGES OR SUCH LOSSES OR DAMAGES WERE OTHERWISE FORESEEABLE, IN NO EVENT WILL
'EITHER PARTY'S AGGREGATE LIABILITY ARISING QUT OF OR RELATED TO THiS AGREEMENT UNDER ANY LEGAL OR
EGUITABLE THEORY, INCLUDING BREACH OF CONTRACT, TORT {INCLUDING NEGLIGENCE), STRICT LIABILITY, AND
OTHERWISE EXCEED THE TOTAL AMOUNTS PAID AND/OR PAYABLE TO BS&A UNDER THIS AGREEMENT IN THE TWELVE
(12} MONTHS IMMEDIATELY PRECEDING THE CLAIM. THE FOREGOING LIMITATIONS OF LIABILITY WILL NOT APPLY WITH
RESPECTTO LIABILITIES ARISING FROM: [A) A PARTY'S BREACH OF TS CONFIDENTIALITY OBLIGATIONS UNDER SECTION &
(B} A PARTY'S GROSS NEGLIGENCE, FRAUD, OR WILLFUL MISCONDUCT; OR (C} A PARTY'S INDEMNIFICATION OBLIGATICONS
UNDER SECTION 12 (PROVIDED THAT BS&A’S TOTAL AGGREGATE LIABILITY IN CONNECTION WITH SUCH
INDEMNIFICATION OBLIGATIONS WILL NOT EXCEED THREE TIMES (3X) THE TOTAL AMOUNTS PAID AND/OR PAYABLETO
BS&A UNDER THIS AGREEMENT IN THE TWELVE {12) MONTHS IMMEDIATELY PRECEDING THE CLA IM).

14, Subscription Period and Termination.

141 Subscription Period. The initial term of this Agreement begins on the Effective Date and, unless
terminated earlier pursuantto this Agreement’s express provisions, will continue in effect for the period identifiedin the
Order {the “Initial Subscription Period”). This Agreement will automatically renew for additional successive terms equal
to the length of the Initial Subscription Period untess earlier terminated pursuant to this Agreement’s express provisions
or either Party gives the other Party written notice of non-renewal atleast thirty (30) days prior to the expiration of the

Page 7 of 12
GDSVF&EHVW[54876.4



then-current term {each a “Renewal Subscription Perlod” and together with the Initial Subscription Period, the
“Subscription Period").

142 Termination. in addition to any other express termination right set forth in this Agreement;

{a) BS&A may terminate this Agreement, effective on written notice to Customer, if Customer: {3
fails to pay any amount when due hereunder, and such failure continues more than ten (10} calendar days after BS&A's
delivery of written notice thereof; or (Hi) breaches any of Its obligations under Section 2.3 or Section 8;

(b) either Party may terminate this Agreement, effective on written notice to the other Party, if
the other Party materially breachesthis Agreement, and such breach: (i} is incapable of cure; or (i) being capable of cure,
remains uncured thirty (30) calendar days after the non-breaching Party provides the breaching Party with written notice
of such breach; or

(c} either Party may terminate this Agreement, effective immediately uponwritten notice to the
other Party, if the other Party: (i) becomesinsolventor is generally unable to pay, or fails to pay, its debts asthey become
due; {ii} files or has fited against it, a petition for voluntary or involuntary bankruptcy or otherwise becomes subject,
voluntarily or involuntarily, to any proceeding under any domestic or foreign bankruptcy or insolvency law; (ill) makes or
seeks to make a general assignment for the benefitofits creditors; or {iv) applies for or has appointedareceiver, trustee,
custodian, or similar agent appointed by order of any court of competent jurisdiction to take charge of or seillany material
portion of its property or business.

143 Effect of Expiration or Termination. Uponexpirationor earlier termination of this Agreement, Customer
shallimmediately discontinue use of the BS&A IP and, without limiting Customer’s obligations under Section 8, Customer
shall delete, destroy, or return ali copies of the BS&A IP and certify in writing to the BS&A that the BS&A IP has been
deleted or destroyed. No expirationor termination will affect Customer’s obligation to pay all Fees that may have become
due before such expiration or termination or entitle Customer to any refund,

144 Syrvival. This Section 14,4 and Sections 1,5, 8§, 10,11,12, 13,143, and 15 survive any termination or
expiration of this Agreement. No other provisions of this Agreement survive the expiration or earlier termination of this
Agreement,

15, Miscellaneous.

151 Relationship of the Parties. BS&A performs its obligations hereunderas an independent contractor and
notapartner, jointventure, or agent of Customer and shall not bind nor attempt to bind Customer to any contract without
Customer’s prior written approval on a case-by-case basis. BS&A is responsible for hiring, firing, and supervising its
personnel is solely responsible hereunder forits personnel, including without limitation for: {a) payment of compensation
to such personnel; {b) withholding {if applicable), paying, and reporting, for all personne! assigned to perform senvces
{including Professional Services) in connection with this Agreement, applicable tax withholding, social security taxes,
employment head taxes, unemploymentinsurance, and other taxes or charges applicable to such personnel; and {c) health
or disability benefits, retirement benefits, or welfare, pension, or other benefits (if any) to which such personnel may be
entitled. For purposes of clarity, BS&A's personnel will not be eligible to participate in any of Customer’s employee benefit
ptans, fringe benefit programs, group insurance arrangements, or similar programs.

152 Entire Agreement. This Agreement, together with any other documents incorporated herein by
reference, constitutes the sole and entire agreement of the Parties with respect to the subject matter of this Agreement
and supersedes all prior and contemporaneous understandings, agreements, and representations and warranties, both
written and oral, with respectto such subject matter. In the event of any Inconsistency between the statements made in
the body of this Agreement, the related Exhibits, and any other documents incorporated herein byreference, the following
order of precedence governs: (i} first, this Agreement; and {ii) second, any other documents incorporated herein by
reference,

153 Notices. All notices, requests, consents, claims, demands, waivers, and other communications
hereunder (each, a "Notice”) must be inwriting and addressed to the Parties at the addresses set forth on the first page
of this Agreement {or to such other address that may be designated by the Party giving Notice from time to time in
accordance with this Section), All Notices must be delivered by personal delivery, nationally recognized overnight courier
(with all fees pre-paid), facsimile or email {with confirmation of transmission) or certified or registered mail {in each case,
return receipt requested, postage pre-paid). Except as otherwise providedin this Agreement, a Notice Is effective only: (i)
upon recelpt by the receiving Party; and (ii} if the Party giving the Notice has complied with the requirements of this

Page 8 of 12
GDSVF&H0154876.4




Section,

154 Force Majeure. In no eventshall either Party be liable to the other Party, or be deemed to have breached
this Agreement, for any failure or delay in performing its obligations under this Agreement {except for any obligations o
make payments), if and to the extent such failure or defay is caused by any circumstances beyondsuch Party’s reasonable
control, including but not limited to acts of God, flood, fire, earthquake, exptosion, war, terrorism, invasion, riot or other
civil unrest, strikes, labor stoppages or slowdowns or other industrial disturbances, or passage of law or any action taken
by a governmental or public authority, including imposing an embargo.

155 Amendment and Modification, No amendment or modification to this Agreementis effective unlessit
Is in writing and signed by an authorized representative of each Party.

156 Waiver. No faillure or delay by either Party in exercising any right or remedy available to itin connection
with this Agreement will constitute a waiver of such right or remedy. No waiver under this Agreement will be effective
untess made in writing and signed by an authorized representative of the Party granting the waiver.

15.7 Severability. if any provision of this Agreement is invalid, illegal, or unenforceable In any jurisdiction,
suchinvalidity, illegality, or unenforceability will not affect any other termor provision of this Agreement or invalidate or
render unenforceable such term or provision in any other jurisdiction. Upon such determination that any term or other
provision is invalid, iltegal, or unenforceable, the Parties shall negotiate in good faith to modify this Agreement so as to
effect their original intent as closely as possible in a mutually acceptable manner in order that the transactions
contemplated hereby be consummated as originally contemplated to the greatest extent possible.

158 Governing Law; Submission to_Jurisdiction. To the extent permissible under applicable laws, this
Agreement is governed by and construed in accordance with the internal laws of the State of Michigan without giving
effect to any choice or conflict of law provision or rule that would require or permit the application of the laws of any
jurisdiction other than those of the State of Michigan. To the extent permissible under applicable laws, any legal suit,
action, or proceeding arlsing out of or related to this Agreement must be instituted in the federal courts of the United
States or the courts of the State of Michigan in each case located in Oakland County, Michigan and each Party irrevocably
submits to the exclusive jurisdiction of such courts in any such suit, action, or praceeding.

159 Assignment. Neither Party may assign any of its rights or delegate any of its obligations hereunder
{exceptin the case of either Party utilizing authorized subcontractors and consultants), in each case whethervoluntarily,
involuntarily, by operation of law or otherwise, without the prior written consent of the other Party. Any purported
assignment or delegation in violation of this Section will be null and void. No assignment or delegation will relieve the
assigning or delegating Party of any of its obligations hereunder. This Agreement s binding uponand inures to the benefit
of the Parties and their respective permitted successors and assigns. Notwithstanding the foregoing, either Party may
freely assign this Agreement to an affiliate or successor in interest in the event of a merger, acquisition, sale of all or
substantially all of its assets, corporate reorganization, or other change In control, without the prior consentof the other
Party.

1510 Export Regulation. The Platforms utifize software and technology that may be subject to US export
control taws, including the US Export Administration Act and its associated regulations. Customer shall not, directly or
indirectly, export, re-export, or release the Platform or the underlying software or technology to, or make the Platformor
the underlying software or technology accessible from, any jurisdictionor countryto which export, re-export, or release Is
prohibited by law, rute, or regulation. Customer shall comply with all applicable federal laws, regulations, and rules, and
complete all required undertakings {including obtaining any necessary export ficense or other governmental approval),
prior to exporting, re-exporting, releasing, or otherwise making the Platform or the underlying software or technology
available outside the US.

1511  US Government Rights. Each of the Dacumentation and software components that constitute the
Platform is a “commercial item” as that term is defined at 48 C.F.R. § 2,101, consisting of “"commercial computer software”
and “commercial computer software documentation” as such terms are used in 48 CF.R. § 12.212. Accordingly, if
Customer is an agency of the US Government or any contractor therefor, Customer only receives thoserights with respect
to the Documentation and the Platformas are granted to all other end users, in accordance with {a) 48 C.F.R. § 227.7201
through 48 C.F.R. § 227.7204, with respect to the Departmentof Defe nseand their contractors, or (b) 48 C.F.R. § 12.212,
with respect to all other US Government users and their contractors.

1512  Equitable Relief. Each Party acknowledges and agrees that a breach or threatened breach by such Party
of any of its obligations under Section 8 or, in the case of Customer, Sectign 2.3, would cause the other Party irreparable

Page 9 of 12
GDSVE&HW154876.4




harm for which monetary damages would not be an adequate remedy and agrees that, in the event of such breach or
threatened breach, the other Party will be entitled to equitable rellef, including a restraining order, an injunction, specific
performance and any other refief that may be available from any court, without any requirement to post a bond or other
security, or to prove actual damages or that monetary damages are not an adequate remedy. Such remedies are not
exclusive and are in addition to all other remedies that may be avaitable at faw, in equity or otherwise.

Page 10 of 12
GDSVF&H\9154876.4



EXHIBITB
PRICING SHEET
{Based on Quote 1806 | June 10, 2025)
Cost Summary
Software is licensed for use only by municipality identified on the cover page. If used for additional entities or agencies, please

contact B5&A for appropriate pricing. Prices subject to change if the actual count is significantly different than the estimated
count. Module fees are charged ennually and include unlimited support,

Upgrade - Cloud Modules

financial Management

GL-General Ledger $3,880.00
AP-Account Payable $3.97500
CR-Cash Receipting $3.545.00

Totat $10,600.00

Personnel Management

PR-Payrolt $5.260.00
Total $5,260.00
Community Development
BD-Building Department £6,345.00
Total $6,345.00
Property
ASG-Assessing $5.835.00
TX-Tax $4,085.00
Total $9,920.00
Auxillary
C-Cemetary Management §970.00
Total $970.00
Subtotal $33,095.00

Page 11 of 12
GDSVF&H\9154876.4



BS&A Online - Fees for 8584 Onfme subﬁ:r{pﬁod sen;iceﬁ Mif_bé_tﬁqrged at the next rénewuf pérr‘od.‘

Public Records Sesrch + Online 8ill Pay
With use of integrated Credif Card Processor

UPgréde Implementation -

Services tnclude;

- Management of your upgrade by vur dedicated upgrads team for o smoath shift from .NET 1o cloud -based softwore, minimizing
disruption
Project schedule aligned with your processes ond needs, ensuring a seamless transition timeline
Expedited upgrade to cloud copturing existing process to minimize demands required of client teams
Onboarding plonned oround critical process dates, enswing your teamt is well-prepared for effective cloud software utilization
Central contact for streomlined communicetion between project leaders, developers, IT stoff, end conversion resources
Testing and implementation of existing municipal customizotions prior to go-live. preserving functionatity and ensuring eeiticol
compoengnts are converted

- Preliminary data conversion with attachiments, mirroting firtal conversion for @ smooth tronsition

- Thormugh doto verification for oll modules, ensuring accuracy ond refiobility of converted dato, including automated belancing
Key madute validotion managed by dedicoted team (vs. customer in previous methodology), including testing of paraifel processes

- Migration of key custom user-bosed designed reports handled put-the-box, enabling seamfess access to critical insights.

- Asnweded, transition from NET Online Poyments lo cloud erehitecture configuration for uninterrupted puyment protessing.
Automaied scaffolding of users omd security roles based on your previous configurations

- Conversion of approval workflows based en role-based security, maintoining established protesses

= As needed, configuration of existing hardware (barcode scanners, etc} for sewmless integration with tloud environment
Dacumentation of our standard processes, facititating eosy access te essentiol information

- Upgrode training

- Privriticed respunse post go-ive for 2 weeks from the upgrade teom
2 post go-live susvey totich points to check-in on posi-go live pxperence

- Remote go-tive assistarce and remote office hours for o successful transition to the cloud-based sofhware

- Travet riot expected, but any necessary travel would be billed ot o per trip and/or per day cost

$40,100.00

Cost Totals
Upgrade Modules - Annual fee Subtotal $33,695.00
Upgrade Implementation Subtotal $40,100.00
Tetal Proposed $73,195.00

[ Payment Schedule

1 Payrnent: $20,050 fo be invoiced upon execution of this sgreement.
2% Payment;  $33,085 to be involced upon the subscription start date for upgrade modufes.

3 payment:  $20,050 ta be invalced upon complation of upgrade implementation.

Page 12 of 12
GDSVF&H\2154876.4




